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OVERVIEW OF THE COMPANY

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) is principally
engaged in the production and sale of Isuzu light, medium and
heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, multi-purpose vehicles and diesel
and petrol engines. All of the production facilities of the Group are
located in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC") and substantially
all the sales of the Group are also made in the PRC. The Group has
made an export sales to Japan during the year, which accounted for
approximately 0.48% of the Group's turnover for the year.

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

The Group had 3,050 employees as at 31st December, 2009.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

| am pleased to present the annual report of Qingling Motors Co.
Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year
ended 31st December, 2009 for your review.

2009 RESULTS

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Company sold 43,506
vehicles, an increase of 23.56% over the 35,209 vehicles in the last
year. Turnover reached RMB4.49 billion, an increase of 13.38% over
the RMB3.96 billion in the last year. Profit after tax was RMB235.16
million, an increase of 31.14% over the RMB179.32 million in the
last year.

REVIEW OF RESULTS

The past year, 2009, was an extraordinary and exciting year, during
which all staff has, on the working principle of “turning challenges
into opportunities and seizing the time"”, rendered relentless effort
and great dedication in overcoming challenges and satisfactory
results were achieved in different projects, thus providing support to
the Company for achieving satisfactory results in the manufacturing
operation during the period and laying a solid foundation for the
achievement of promising results for different projects and a leap in
the development in 2010.
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Launch of “E9111100P” Model by Qingling Motors

B2 R EBASKEIE T
One of Qingling Motor’s 4S Distributors

ZEIEBED » Z#E2009F PROMISING RESULTS OF DIFFERENT PROJECTS TO
EERKE - SUPPORT THE MANUFACTURING BUSINESS AND
OPERATION FOR 2009
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capture the market share. In March 2009, the Company
introduced “EIII 100P" light-duty commercial vehicles with
high quality and medium price has captured the market share
from our competitors by capitalizing on our strength in high
performance-to-price ratio, which resulted in a rapid growth
in the sales volume especially in the second half of the year,
amounting to approximately 8,400 units and representing 75%
of the annual sales volume of 11,266 units. In the meanwhile,
through our intensive marketing effort and our initiative taken
for customer development, the sales volume of 700P medium-
duty commercial vehicles experienced a rapid growth, with its
annual sales volume amounting to 3,248 units, representing a
year-on-year increase of about 3.3 times.

The sales work rapidly “spread and localized”. The sales
department endeavored to make the sales network as well
as marketing and promotion spread and localized: (i) the
coverage of the sales network was extended from capital
cities and economic centers to prefecture-level cities, and
we have developed and nurtured new distributors and set up
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CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

HtEmFARE S5
Quality Training Provided to Suppliers

new branches, with nearly 90 distributors and approximately
200 branches at present, pressing close to the sales
network covered by our competitors and retail customers;
(i) approximately 140 marketing and promotion activities
were undertaken in cities, counties and towns, to spread the
information of products with high quality and medium prices,
to develop retail customers and to increase the sales volume.

Proceeding with the exercise of “Improving Production
Quality” resulted in the significant improvement of the
production efficiency: () we have adopted the delivery
management system of Isuzu and carried out the mode of
management in vehicle and component assembly lines, and
this has improved the assembly quality, reduced the workload
and improved the production efficiency; (i) we have also
improved the technologies, strengthened the quality assurance
of equipment, cutting instrument, moulds, inspection tools,
while training employees for enhancing their professional
skills. The production capacity of the Company has hence been
greatly improved.

Strengthening the high technical production processes
control and the quality inspection control resulted in
further improvement of product quality: (i) we paid on-site
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

visit to the factories of parts and components and required
them to set up necessary procedures in inspection with a
view to blocking the inflow of substandard goods, while
jointly undertaking measures to improve the product quality;
(i) each internal manufacturing unit also undertook exercises
on improving the technology and optimizing the management
to avoid substandard goods be produced and released to
the market. The quality of components and parts produced
externally and in-house produced products has been improved
significantly.
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INITIATED DIFFERENT PROJECTS TO LAY THE
FOUNDATION FOR BUSINESS GROWTH IN 2010

— BAFERTEAEERMEELL 1. Develop three groups of high quality, medium-priced
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products with competitive edges arising from relatively
high performance-to-price ratio: (i) introduce medium-priced
Bl 100P and 600P products with prices being adjusted
downwards in January 2010, and form a portfolio of light-
duty commercial vehicles; (i) complete the development of
the medium-priced F vehicles and form a portfolio of medium-
duty commercial vehicles with 700P; (iii) introduce 4J low-
powered ElIIl diesel pick-ups, and form a portfolio of pick-ups
with 4K high-powered B!l diesel pick-ups, so as to equip the
Company for furthering our efforts in developing the mid-end
and high-end markets in 2010.

Rapidly improve the capacities in sales and marketing
as well as after-sales services of 700P medium-duty
commercial vehicles: (i) identify and establish business
relations with new distributors for medium-duty commercial
vehicles in regional markets with high medium truck
ownership and comprehensive logistic facilities, and assist
existing distributors to improve their sales and marketing
capacity of medium-duty commercial vehicles through various
measures, which included marketing, promotion and customer
development; (ii) improve the after-sales service capacity of
medium-duty commercial vehicles in a synchronized manner
and require both new distributors and existing distributors
to be able to carry out maintenance of 700P and lay a solid
foundation for perking up sales volume of 700P.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

3. Carry out different technical measures, improve production
capacity and get well prepared for improving the sales
volume in 2010: (i) focus on equipment and moulds, proceed
with precise inspection and recovery work, improve efficiency
and the quality of our products and increase production
capacity; (i) carry out different technical measures including
technical optimization and adjustment which pitch at
production lines which face production bottleneck problems in
order to improve their efficiency and production capacity.

OUTLOOKS AND PROSPECTUS

The Company has adhered to its operation principle and objectives
which attach great importance to sustainable development, put
much emphasis on quality and efficiency, continued to build up
its strengths and consolidated its core competitive strength.
With a wide range of products and a significant enhancement of
performance-to-price ratio, we have developed three groups of high
quality and medium-priced products, which considerably sharpen
the competitive edge of our products. We have also enhanced
our capability in terms of business development, manufacturing,
marketing and management, which would serve as strong
competitive strengths for us to further increase our market shares
and we expect that our manufacturing and sales performance will
continue to improve.

In 2010, the Company’s operating principles will be “fully geared up
for business growth and achieving a leap in development”. The key
initiatives are as follows:

1. Increase our efforts to enhance our marketing capability
and catapult our sales to new levels. (i) We will focus
on consolidating the sales network, swiftly develop new
distributors and set up new sales branches for providing after-
sales services; (i) we will focus on consolidating the marketing
and promotion activities, intensively carry out marketing and
promotion activities of the existing products and the newly
introduced high quality, medium-priced products in provincial
capital cities and economic centers, especially in cities,
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

counties and towns, rapidly spread the information of the
high quality, medium-priced products, and capture the market
shares of our competitors, so as to provide strong support for
the sales volume to reach a new level.

Persistently proceed with the exercise of “Ilmproving
Production Quality”, with the focus on the improvement
of the manufacturing capacity of light-duty and medium-
duty commercial vehicles in light of the greatly increased
market demands: (i) We will put strong emphasis on work
with respect to the precision of the equipment and moulds,
improve the quality of the parts and components and the
comprehensive manufacturing capacity; (i) we will optimize
the integration on the operation of various departments,
covering development, purchase, production and sales with
a view to make swift response to the market demands; (iii)
we will also develop new information management system
in respect of the manufacturing process, and improve the
efficiency and accuracy in information transmission and
information processing.

Strengthen the quality control, and further consolidate
the quality foundation for high quality, medium-priced
vehicles: (i) we will establish a dual supervision and support
mechanism for the quality control department and the
manufacturing units; (i) we will fully implement the quality
control method of Isuzu, and satisfy the demands both in
domestic and overseas markets by the same the quality
standard adopted for the same product; (iii) we will focus
on the quality verification of the parts and components
of medium-duty vehicles produced under high production
efficiency, and rapidly achieve mass production and sales. In
the meanwhile, the Company will establish an information
system in respect of the quality control, and improve the
efficiency in collecting and processing the information on
quality.
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

4. Carry out technological upgrade projects in respect of
assembly and development to lay a strong foundation
for the Company’s sustainable development: (i) we will
expand the production capacity of light-duty and medium-duty
commercial vehicles and pick-ups by expanding the assembly
lines, with production capacity of 60,000 units per 8 hours for
N series of assembly lines and 30,000 units per 8 hours for T/U
assembly lines; (ii) we will improve the capacity and efficiency
in the development of new products, and initiate projects on
product trial testing and facilities inspection, while undertaking
testing with respect to the endurance of engines, emission
system and chassis parts and components.

In face of 2010, the Company believes that all the staff will seize
the time and achieve satisfactory results in sales and marketing,
manufacturing, quality assurance and technological improvement.
The Company will make full use of its competitive edge on high
quality, medium-priced products to achieve better operating results
and bring more satisfactory returns for the investors.

WU Yun
Chairman
23 March 2010
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECTORS

Mr. WU Yun, aged 56, has been an executive Director since 28
April 1994. Mr. WU is also the chairman of the Company. He is also
Chairman and General Manager of Qingling Group. Mr. WU, a senior
economist, has been in the motor vehicle production industry for
over 29 years and has extensive experience in management and
finance. He is a standing director of the Sino-Foreign Investment
Association and a representative of Chongqing National People’s
Congress. Mr. WU graduated from Hunan University, specialising in
automobile studies.

Mr. GAO Jianmin, aged 50, has been an executive Director since
28 April 1994. Mr. GAO is currently an executive director and
managing director of Silver Grant International Industries Limited
(listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Hong
Kong Stock Exchange”), stock code: 171) and an executive director
of Jiangxi Copper Company Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, stock code: 358). These companies are listed on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange. Mr. GAO has more than 21 years’
experience in finance, industrial investment and development. He
holds a Bachelor degree in engineering from Qinghua University.

Mr. Makoto TANAKA, aged 58, has been an executive Director
since 17 June 2008. Mr. TANAKA is also the general manager of the
Company. Mr. TANAKA graduated from Nihon University. He joined
Isuzu Motors Limited in April 1975. He served in different positions
in Isuzu Motors Limited from December 1994 to April 2005,
including supervisor of assembly team (F£HL#%1I748) of Large Size
Automobiles Technology Department (AELERfiTEE), director of
production coordination department (& F 21 /736 of production
technology planning office (A ZE T2 & =) and director of PT public
works department (PT L##6). He was president of Isuzu Engine
Manufacturing Co., (Thailand) Ltd. (F+#Z=EE R EKRN &4t
during the period from May 2005 to April 2007. He returned to Isuzu
Motors Limited in April 2007 and served as PT production executive
director (PT £EMITIEE).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Masanori KATAYAMA, aged 56, has been an executive
Director since 16 June 2009. Mr. KATAYAMA graduated from the
engineering department of Tokyo University. He joined Isuzu in April
1978 and served in the technology development department (¥
FA25E6), production planning department (A£E2EE), production
and marketing department (£ iti8%0) and automobile engineering
department (BB L#E6) of Isuzu and assumed the office of chief
team member (EZEBE), officer (EF), department officer (ZFf),
executive officer (F771%8), director (/%) and senior executive
officer (L/F#771% &), and executive director (B4 1% & HHITIE).
He has over 31 years of extensive experience in the development
and manufacture of Isuzu motors as well as corporate operation and
management.

Mr. LIU Guangming, aged 56, has been an executive Director since
28 April 1994. Mr. LIU is also a Deputy General Manager of the
Company, a Chairman of a member of the Group as well as Deputy
Chairman and Deputy General Manager of Qingling Group. He is
also the Chairman of the Company’s remuneration committee. Mr.
LIU is a Senior Economist and the Vice Chairman of the Chongging
Management Association and has over 29 years' experience in
corporate management and personnel management. He studied
in universities in Japan, the United States and Chongging and was
previously a division head, Deputy Party Secretary and Deputy
Factory Manager and Party Secretary of Qingling Group.

Mr. PAN Yong, aged 59, has been an executive Director since
28 April 1994. Mr. PAN is also a Deputy General Manager of the
Company, a Chairman of a few members of the Group as well as a
Director and Deputy General Manager of Qingling Group. Mr. PAN is
a senior economist, has more than 29 years’ experience in corporate
management and sales. Mr. PAN graduated from Hunan University,
specialising in automobile studies.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. YUE Huagiang, aged 65, has been an executive Director since
28 April 1994. Mr. YUE is also an assistant to the General Manager
of the Company, a director of various members of the Group as well
as a Deputy Chief Accountant of Qingling Group. Mr. YUE is a senior
accountant and has more than 36 years’ experience in corporate
financial management. Mr. YUE graduated from Sichuan Finance
and Trade School in 1964 and attended the People’s Republic of
China training programme for chief accountants. He has been an
Accounting Supervisor, Head of the Financial Division, Deputy Chief
Accountant and Chief Accountant of the Company.

Mr. LONG Tao, aged 58, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 28 April 1994. He is also a member of both the
Company’s audit committee and remuneration committee. Mr.
LONG graduated from Research Institute for Fiscal Science,
Ministry of Finance, majoring in accounting. Mr. LONG holds a
master’'s degree in economics. He had served at Accountancy
Division of Central University of Finance and Economics, and
New York office of KPMG Peat Marwick. Mr. LONG had acted
as a member of Securities Issue and Approval Committee of
China Securities Regulatory Commission and member of Chinese
accounting expert panel for China-Hong Kong Securities Team.
Mr. LONG is currently an associate professor of the Accountancy
Division of Central University of Finance and Economics and the
Chairman of Beijing Haiwen Investment Consultants Inc. Mr. LONG
has extensive knowledge and experience in corporate finance,
accounting, audit, assets appraisal, restructuring of enterprise
and listing. Mr. LONG also serves as the independent director of
Asialnfo Holdings Inc. (listed on NASDAQ, NASDAQ: ASIA). Mr.
LONG retired as the independent non-executive director of Beijing
Capital International Airport Co., Ltd. (listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, stock code: 694) on 12 June 2008. Mr. LONG has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Beijing North
Star Company Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange,
stock code: 588) on 19 May 2009.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. SONG Xiaojiang, aged 59, has been an independent non-
executive Director since 28 April 1994. He is also the Chairman of
the Company’s audit committee and a member of the Company’s
remuneration committee. Mr. SONG is a General Manager of
Chongging Ping Zheng Law Office, a member of the China
Economic Law Association and the China Lawyers Association, and
a council member of the Chongging Lawyers Association. He is also
the Vice Chairman of the Foreign Affairs Committee of Chongging
Lawyers Association and a member of the Chongging Legal
Academy. Mr. SONG has been a lawyer and notary for 25 years.
Mr. SONG graduated from South West Institute of Political Science
and Law. He also studied international law in the China University
of Political Science and Law and foreign economic law at Shenzhen
University. He was formerly a Vice Chairman of Chongging Notary
Office and Vice Chairman of Chongging Foreign Law Office.

Mr. XU Bingjin, aged 71, has been an independent non-executive
Director since 22 September 2004. He is also a member of both the
Company’s audit committee and remuneration committee. Mr. XU
is the President of China Europe Economic Association for Technical
and Economic Cooperation, Vice President of the World Trade
Organization Institute, Part-time Professor of Shanghai Foreign
Trade College and Senior Consultant of Northeastern University.
He holds a Bachelor Degree in Engineering Economics from Jilin
Industrial University and is a Senior Engineer. Mr. XU has been a
former assistant to the minister of the Ministry of China Foreign
Trade and Economic Cooperation, Deputy Chief of the Delegation
of China Entry to GATT and the Delegation of China Entry to WTO.
He is currently an independent non-executive director of Brilliance
China Automotive Holdings Limited (listed on the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange, Stock Code: 1114).
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS,
SUPERVISORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

SUPERVISORS

Ms. MIN Qing, aged 42, has been the Supervisor representing
the shareholders since 15 June 2006 and is the Chairman of the
Supervisory Committee. Ms. MIN is the Deputy Secretary of
the Party Committee and the Chairman of the Workers Union
of Qingling Group. She has 21 years’ experience in corporate
management. Ms. MIN graduated from Chongging Communication
College in Mechanical Engineering in 1988 and had undergraduate
education. She also studied corporate management in Japan.

Ms. ZHOU Hong, aged 58, has been a Supervisor representing
the shareholders since 11 June 1997. Ms. ZHOU is the Deputy
Secretary of the Communist Party Discipline Commission of the
Company and a political specialist. She has 34 years’ experience
in management. Ms. ZHOU graduated from Sichuan Party Cadre
Distant Learning Institute in 1988, specializing in economic
management.

Mr. ZHANG Wanjin, aged 35, has been a Supervisor representing
the staff and workers since 16 June 2009. Mr. ZHANG graduated
from the chemical engineering department of Wuhan Automotive
Polytechnic University in 1998 and Chongging University in 2007
majoring corporate finance management and received bachelor
degrees in engineering and business administration respectively.
Mr. ZHANG Wanjin joined the Company in June 1998 and served as
the secretary of the office of the Company, and he is currently the
deputy chief economist and the director of the office of B$2/3E (%
&) B[R A 7] (Qingling Motors (Group) Company Limited).



EEEgHE

B RR

REEGBEKILIAK  2H8KE
AERERRERORA - BEH
RAERANZEL  BREAAE
ERERRIFE JIFEESS
FOUHARANEELE K
MEkFREREEBIREL 2
ZER HRARNBEEBBNIE
HWARBRAERESNABZER
ERMARARMBERAST - AR
HAaBRROMEBETHERNE

AEESTERE ZEFRHA
NRAINEHEE KB ®ERM
Hib @ ER - AEFER/Y
BHREAGRHEZE  SRENY
BEENASEMME  RER
Ef&EMA e

AEEEFARETEESHRE
XBRREAFAENWHRELE
ERMEMMBOETER - K%
REER EF KBEESAE
BABFEERBERILEARA
BRRETHERTR

AEFEHARANEEIIER
PIERGHRBEMRERTME
BARRBWERAMZITMED °

L

EFELTE

HEEE -
—E-TE=A=+=8

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE’'S REPORT

TO SHAREHOLDERS:

Since the establishment of the Supervisory Committee, each
member has been performing his duty in accordance with the
Company’s Articles of Association with a view of protecting the
interests of shareholders and the Company. We have attended
the board meetings and have given our opinions regarding the
operations, technological reform and development of the Company
during board meetings. We have also monitored the guiding
ideology of the management and considered whether the decisions
made by the management were in compliance with state laws and
whether they were appropriate for the development of the Company
and were in the interests of shareholders.

According to its power, the Supervisory Committee has reviewed
evidence of the Company’s accounts, books, reports and other
accounting information from time to time. In our opinion, the
financial statements have been properly prepared while the
accounting principles and the method of financial management
adopted are in compliance with relevant rules and regulations.

We have carefully examined the financial statements, the
Directors’ Report and the proposal for appropriation of profit to
be presented before the forthcoming annual general meeting by
the Board of Directors. In our opinion, the chairman of the board,
directors, managers and senior management have not engaged
in any malpractices which would be prejudicial to the interests of
shareholders and employees of the Company.

The Supervisory Committee is satisfied with the performance as
well as the economic results of the Company, and we are confident
about the future development of the Company.

MIN Qing

Chairman of the Supervisory Committee
Chongging, PRC,

23 March 2010
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) present their
annual report and audited consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2009.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the production and sale of
Isuzu light, medium and heavy-duty trucks, pick-up trucks, multi-
purpose vehicles and diesel and petrol engines. The activities of the
Company’s principal subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities are
set out in notes 33 and 18 respectively to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2009 are
set out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on
page 44. The directors of the Company recommend the payment
of a final dividend of RMBO0.08 per share to the shareholders on the
register of members on 10 May 2010, amounting to approximately
RMB198,581,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT/INVESTMENT
PROPERTIES

During the year, the Group incurred approximately RMB8,712,000
on acquisition of property, plant and equipment for expansion of its
production facilities.

Details of these and other movements during the year in property,
plant and equipment and investment properties of the Group are set
out in note 14 and note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 23 to
the consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

According to the Company's Articles of Association, for the purpose
of determining the amount of profit available for distribution, the
amount shall be deemed to be the lesser of the amount of profit
determined in accordance with the relevant accounting principles
and financial regulations applicable to companies established in
the People’s Republic of China ("PRC GAAP") and the amount of
profit determined in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs"). The Group’s profit available for distribution
to shareholders as at 31 December 2009 was the retained profit of
approximately RMB1,422,748,000 determined in accordance with
PRC GAAP.

The profit of the Company for a financial year shall be applied in
accordance with the following order:

(i

making up losses;

(i) allocation to statutory surplus reserve fund,

(ii)  if there are preference shares, payment of dividends in respect
of preference shares;

(iv) allocation to discretionary surplus reserve fund; and

(v)  payment of dividends in respect of ordinary shares.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Cont’d)

The detailed proportion of distribution in respect of items (ii) to (v)
above for any financial year shall be formulated by the Board in
accordance with the operational conditions of the Company and its
development requirements and shall be submitted to shareholders’
general meeting for approval.

DIRECTORS AND SUPERVISORS

The directors and supervisors of the Company during the year and
up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors:

WU Yun (Chairman)

GAO Jianmin

Makoto TANAKA (General Manager)

Masanori KATAYAMA (appointed on 16 June 2009)

Naotoshi TSUTSUMI (resigned on 16 June 2009)
LIU Guangming

PAN Yong

YUE Huagiang

Independent non-executive directors:
LONG Tao

SONG Xiaojiang

XU Bingjin

Supervisors:

MIN Qing

ZHOU Hong

ZHANG Wanijin (appointed on 16 June 2009)

ZHENG Gang (resigned on 16 June 2009)



EEERE

BEERBEN

FTEZESE (R ILERAISEAERIN G
mxAﬂ _77H¢AH+A
HENMAB=FORKEEL -

FILIFAIE A BEARR —_ZZ
Hi/\ﬂ-t—/\El Riﬁ'ﬁﬁﬂ FH
FR#& R °

RAAREMEESBLIRNTES
BEMREBIMUAOBRK -
RARNREESNBLIENITE
ERARAME - R 2B
B o B AR R BRI KRR F B AT
FAr EmAUTLETHRIYNDE

PAIBWEER— 2B EERA
BUEWNTES - ARARIES
HEE NBRARRDEZBA -

RZFZNFRRAFAE &
EHELECRERTES - H 1
FRIEAEBEZERRITES - (£
HH-_TTZNFRREAFAGZ
BE_Z-——_FRREFREZ
BRI -

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

All directors, other than Masanori KATAYAMA, had renewed their
service contracts with the Company for a term of three years
commencing on 16 June 2009.

Mr. Masanori KATAYAMA has entered his service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing on 16 June 2009.

The Company has received annual confirmation from each of
the independent non-executive directors as regards to their
independence to the Company and considers that each of the
independent non-executive directors is independent to the
Company. However, the Company has not yet employed an
ordinary Hong Kong resident as an independent non-executive
director pursuant to Rule 19A.18 (1) of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Listing Rules”). The Company is in the process of locating a
suitable candidate to assume such position as soon as possible.

At the annual general meeting of 2009, Mr. Naotoshi TSUTSUMI
retired as the executive director. Mr. Masanori KATAYAMA was
appointed as the executive director to hold office from the date of
the annual general meeting of 2009 to the date of annual general
meeting of 2012.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS (Cont’d)

According to the provisions of the Companies Law in the People's
Republic of China (the “"PRC"), the term of office of all supervisors
shall be three years renewable upon appointment or re-election.
The prior term of office of each of the supervisors expired at the
annual general meeting of 2009, which was held on 16 June 2009.
At the annual general meeting of 2009, Mr. ZHANG Gang retired
as supervisor representing the staff and workers of the Company;
Ms. MIN Qing and Ms. ZHOU Hong were re-elected as supervisors
representing the shareholders of the Company. Mr. ZHANG Wanjin
was appointed as the supervisor of the staff and workers of the
Company to hold office from the date of the annual general meeting
of 2009 to the date of annual general meeting of 2012.

None of the directors or supervisors has a service contract with
the Company or its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the
Group within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’, SUPERVISORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS IN SHARES

As at 31 December 2009, none of the directors or the supervisors
and chief executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") as recorded in
the register required to be kept under section 352 of SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code"”) as set out in
Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company,
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries, a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance, to which the Company, its holding
company, fellow subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director or supervisor of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the
year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

The details of directors’ remuneration and highest paid individuals
are set out in note 9 to the consolidated financial statements. All
of five highest paid individuals of the Company for both years were
directors.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all of the independent non-executive directors are independent.

QUALIFIED ACCOUNTANT

Since 1 January 2009, the requirements of Rule 3.24 of the Listing
Rules had been removed, pursuant to which the Company is
no longer required to appoint a qualified accountant. However,
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function has
accounting staff with adequate qualifications and experience to
assist the Company and the Board in fulfilling their continuing
financial and accounting related obligations.

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2009, there were 140 shareholders recorded in
the register of shareholders of the Company and the shareholders
other than a director, supervisor or chief executive of the Company,
having an interest or short positions in 5% or more of the issued
share capital of the relevant class as recorded in the register of
interests in the shares and short positions required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of SFO were as follows:
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS AND SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDERS (Cont’d)

Long positions in the shares of the Company:

HEBERN

REEAH AR K

Percentage of BAL

FisRHEE the relevant Percentage

R 18 R Number of &1 class of of entire

Class of shares shares held  Capacity share capital  share capital

NER 12436164038 EREAA 100.00% 50.10%

Domestic 1,243,616,403 shares  Beneficial 100.00% 50.10%
shares owner

HNER 496,453,654 EREAA 40.08% 20.00%

(HE&)

Foreign shares 496,453,654 shares  Beneficial 40.08% 20.00%

(H shares) owner

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2009.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the year, none of the Directors or Supervisors had any
interest in any business which compete or may compete with the
business of the Company.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EMOLUMENT POLICY (Cont'd)

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by
the Remuneration Committee (composed by one executive director
and three independent non-executive directors), having regard
to the Company’s operating results, individual performance and
comparable market statistics.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had connected transactions with
Qingling Group and its subsidiaries, and Isuzu and its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Isuzu (China) Holding Co., Ltd. (collectively referred to
as “Isuzu Group”), and Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Engine Co., Ltd.
("Qingling Isuzu Engine”), a jointly controlled entity formed and
jointly controlled by the Company and Isuzu. Qingling Group and
Isuzu held 50.10% and 20.00% of the issued share capital of the
Company respectively as at 31 December 2009. Details of these
transactions are as follows:

(a)  Significant connected transactions with Qingling Group and its
subsidiaries:

At the time of reorganisation as described in note 1 to the
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into a
service agreement in relation to the sales of parts and raw
materials for the manufacture of automobile parts by Qingling
Group. In addition, the Group had also entered into a parts
supply agreement with Qingling Group whereby Qingling
Group agreed to provide the Group with certain parts and
components produced by Qingling Group which are required
in the production processes of the Group. On 23 May 2008,
the Group entered into new parts supply agreements with
Qingling Group and its subsidiaries respectively, which were
approved by the Group’s general meeting held on 5 August
2008.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(a)

Significant connected transactions with Qingling Group and its
subsidiaries: (Cont'd)

On 23 May 2008, the Company also entered into a warehouse
leasing agreement with Qingling Group whereby the Company
agreed to lease warehouses from Qingling Group for a period
of three years.

Details of connected transactions with Qingling Group during
the year are set out in note 29(i)(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.
During the vyear, the Company had certain connected
transactions with some of the sino-foreign joint venture
companies which are subsidiaries of Qingling Group. These
companies include EEERFERRAR, EEERBEER
NF), EEEREBARAT, EEERBEEHFERAT, =
EERZHARRAR and BEEERBERAMRAF. Details of
these transactions are set out in note 29(i)(b) to 29(i)(g) to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

Significant connected transactions with Isuzu Group:

On 23 May 2008, the Company has entered into an automobile
parts and components supply agreement with Isuzu whereby
Isuzu agreed to provide the Company with certain automobile
parts and components produced by Isuzu and which are
required in the production processes of the Group. This
agreement was approved by the independent shareholders by
poll on 5 August 2008.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(b)

Significant connected transactions with Isuzu Group: (Cont'd)

On 23 May 2008, the Company has also entered into an
accessory sets and other automobile parts and components
supply agreement with Isuzu whereby the Company agreed to
provide Isuzu with certain accessory sets and other automobile
parts and components produced by the Company and which
are required in the production processes of Isuzu Group. This
agreement was approved by the independent shareholders by
poll on 5 August 2008.

During the vyear, the Company had certain connected
transactions with Isuzu of royalty fee for the transfer of
technology and provision of technical know-how and the
permission to use the trademark of Isuzu and the emblem by
Isuzu to the Company for the production and in the sales of
100P — N/R series light vehicles, 140 TF/UC Series vehicles,
F Series Chassis and 700P series and related parts and

components.

Details of connected transactions with Isuzu Group during
the year are set out in note 29(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (Cont’d)

(c)

The

Significant connected transactions with Qingling Isuzu Engine:

Since November 2007, connected transactions have been
carried out between the Company and the Qingling Isuzu
Engine in respect of (i) the ongoing supply transactions namely
the supply of parts of engines and raw materials to and the
purchase of engines and their parts from Qingling Isuzu
Engine, (i) the ongoing consolidated services namely the
provision of consolidated services to Qingling Isuzu Engine,
(iii) the ongoing equipment lease namely the rental of leased
equipment to Qingling Isuzu Engine, and (iv) the ongoing
factory lease namely the lease of the leased land and factory
premises to Qingling Isuzu Engine.

On 21 January 2008, the Company entered into following
agreements with Qingling Isuzu Engine: (1) the Supply
Agreement; (2) the Consolidated Services Agreement; (3)
the Equipment Lease Agreement; and (4) the Factory Lease
Agreement. All these agreements were approved by the
independent shareholders by poll on 31 March 2008.

Details of connected transactions with Qingling Isuzu Engine
during the year are set out in note 29(iii) to the consolidated
financial statements.

directors confirm that the

independent non-executive

transactions have been entered into by the Company in the ordinary

course of its business, on normal commercial terms or on terms

no less favorable than terms available to or from independent

third parties, and in accordance with the terms of the agreement

governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable and in the

interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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FIVE LARGEST SUPPLIERS AND CUSTOMERS

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the five largest suppliers
accounted for 65% of the total purchases of the Group. The largest
supplier accounted for 31% of the total purchases. One subsidiary
of Qingling Group, a jointly controlled entity of the Company and a
Japanese trading company, through which Isuzu channels its supply
of parts and components to the Group, are included in the five
largest suppliers of the Group. Details of transactions with Qingling
Group and its subsidiaries and with Isuzu Group are set out in the
section “Connected Transactions” above. Other than disclosed
above, the Company’s directors and supervisors, their associates
or any shareholders (which to the knowledge of the directors own
more than 5% of the Company’s share capital), did not have any
interests in the Group’s five largest suppliers for the year ended 31
December 2009.

For the year ended 31 December 2009, the aggregate sales
attributable to the Group’s five largest customers were less than
22% of the Group's total sales.

CONVERTIBLE SECURITIES, OPTIONS, WARRANTS OR
SIMILAR RIGHTS

The Company and its subsidiaries did not issue or grant any
convertible securities, options, warrants or similar rights during the
year.

There were no outstanding or conversion of convertible securities,
options, warrants or similar rights issued or granted by the Company
or its subsidiaries and jointly controlled entity during the year.
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DESIGNATED DEPOSITS

As at 31 December 2009, the Group did not hold any designated
deposits or any time deposits that were overdue but could not be
collected upon maturity.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, none of the Company or its subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities had purchased, redeemed or sold any of the
Company’s listed securities during the year.

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2009, the Group has 3,050 employees. During
the year, no material change is noted for the number of employees
nor their remuneration policy. The Group actively provides various
training to its staff of all levels.

STAFF RETIREMENT SCHEME

Details of the Group's staff retirement benefits scheme are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules. Based on specific enquires to all directors
and supervisors, the Company confirms that all directors and
supervisors have complied with the requirements of the Model
Code during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Except for the deviations set out in the “corporate governance
report”, the Company has complied with the code provisions of the
Code of Corporate Governance Practices as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules during the year.

Further information on the Company’s corporate governance
practices is set out in the “corporate governance report” from
pages 32 to 40.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, there is sufficient public
float not less than 25% of the Company’'s issued shares are held by
the public throughout the year 2009.

REVIEW OF ACCOUNTS

The audit committee has reviewed with the management and
auditors of the Company the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal controls
and financial reporting matters including the review of the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2009.



EEERE

% 401

ERERERRYEKGIMEBMR
ERAAREEH  BMERNES
Bh1T R AR A BED 2 RFE R
REREFAELESR -

EFERERINEMT ¢
BAELCDEZERLERLERE
B ERRBZBIIFNITE

B
3
FoZRR B BEEABIAH
/N I
AEEG®

EEFR

PEEE T F
—+=H

A
‘FH
[1]
N

31

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting to re-
appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. and Messrs.
Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditors of the Company.
DIRECTORS’ PARTICULARS

Change in the particulars of the director is set out as follow:

Mr. LONG Tao has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Beijing North Star Company Limited which is a company
listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange.

By order of the Board

WU Yun
CHAIRMAN

Chongging, the PRC, 23 March 2010
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The Company endeavours to maintain a high standard of corporate
governance and to increase transparency to its shareholders. The
Company has adopted sound governance and disclosure practices,
and is committed to continuously improve those practices and
cultivate an ethical corporate culture.

Except for the deviations specified below, the Company has
complied with the code provisions of the Code on Corporate
Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the
Listing Rules in the year 2009.

Code Provision E.1.2 stipulates that the Chairman of the Board
should attend annual general meetings. Owing to an overseas trip
to process important business, Mr. WU Yun, the Chairman of the
Board of the Company, has given an apology for not presiding the
2009 Annual General Meeting. Hence, he has signed an appointing
letter, appointing Mr. LIU Guangming, an executive Director,
to attend the 2009 Annual General Meeting. Mr. WU Yun, the
Chairman of the Board, should attend the Annual General Meeting
of the Company unless any exceptional circumstances occur.

According to regulations promulgated by the Stock Exchange, any
PRC-based company listed in Hong Kong shall engage one Hong
Kong resident to act as an independent non-executive director.
However, as at the date of this report, the Company has not
identified a suitable candidate.

Below is the summary of the corporate governance practices
adopted by the Company in 2009.

THE BOARD

The Board, led by the Chairman, is responsible for the approval
and monitoring of the Company’s overall strategies and policies,
approval of annual budgets and business plans, evaluation of the
performance of the Company, and oversight of the work of the
management.
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The day-to-day operations of the Group are delegated to the
management. The management team must meet regularly with
executive directors to review and discuss on day-to-day operations
issues, financial and operating performance as well as to monitor
and ensure the management in carrying out the directions and
strategies set by the Board correctly and properly.

The Board comprises ten Directors, out of which seven are
executive Directors (including the Chairman and the General
Manager) and three are independent non-executive Directors. For
name list and profile of the members of the Board, please refer to
the section headed "Biographical Details of Directors, Supervisors
and Senior Management”. In accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules, an independent non-executive director must
be confirmed by the Board to have no direct or indirect material
relationship with the Company before being considered to be
independent. The Company has received written confirmation from
each independent non-executive Director of his independence and
considered all independent non-executive Directors are independent
to the Company. There is no financial, business, family or other
material/related relationship existing among the Directors.

The Board should meet regularly, and board meeting should be held
at least four times a year. The Board held five meetings in 2009 and
one meeting before 23 March 2010. Attendance rate of Directors
(including attendance by representatives) was 100%.

The Board has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10
of the Listing Rules as the Company's code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by Directors and Supervisors. After making
specific enquiries with all Directors and Supervisors, the Company
has confirmed that the Directors and Supervisors complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during 2009.



EEEBRE

FTREAAKE

ARREFSXIRABLEED
MRELAEMMBAPHALERE
£ AWERES DN TRBA -

TFEAEREREEEEENE
F BRMHRAEETSEH -

REFEUNTEARAKEN R
MAATE - TREEBSZBE
ErH2REZENEBAHE
SeNREFLER  EXFEW
RET ARAEFEZHRMR
HHAEEREBMER - WK
BUEE P RERRRFEREE -

BMEEAEEREARANES
AR E BB AR A BR
YHRARABEBEEREFTEA
BEME -ARABAKERAEMH
TEFERIZROEBBPINITR
EEGMLBOEIE BEEBED
BeRLBIZTRHE  RER
IRAT &I B

/)
\

s

AR EINERARBE
BEMEEE  ARBERAR A
BRNHABEERNEETSREE
RoARNRABEERTFENFAE
EERFBAE BROUMITOE
AN REITA BRI ER R A
EF TEERVEARSAE
MITBRBEASEERITRE -

ESRA

ARRERFNTHGRE &
EHRRASERES  EH=
FOEETHER IREEE
T -BARRMBEENREY
BEEEMES -

34

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CHAIRMAN AND GENERAL MANAGER

Mr. WU Yun and Mr. Makoto TANAKA hold the positions of
Chairman of the Board and General Manager, which are two clearly
separate positions, respectively.

The Chairman is responsible for leading, and overseeing the
operations of the Board, effectively planning the Board meetings
and ensuring the Board is acting in the best interests of the
Company. The Chairman shall proactively encourage Directors
to fully participate in the Board's affairs and make contribution
to the functions of the Board. The Board, under the Chairman’s
leadership, has adopted good corporate governance practices and
procedures and has taken appropriate steps to maintain effective
communication with the shareholders.

The General Manager is responsible for managing the business
of the Company, as well as formulating and implementing the
Company’s policies and is answerable to the Board in relation to the
overall management of the Company. The General Manager of the
Company works in close association with other executive Directors
and the administrative team of each core business division, ensuring
the funding requirements of the business of the Company are
sufficiently met and at the same time closely monitor the operation
and financial results of the Company according to business plans
and budgets, and advise the Board on matters in relation to the
Company’s development. The General Manager of the Company
is required to keep close communication with the Chairman
and all Directors to keep them fully informed of all substantive
matters relating to the Company’s business development, and
is also responsible for building and maintaining a highly efficient
administrative support team to support him to discharge the
assigned duties in this position.

NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

Article 95 of the Company’s Articles of Association stipulates that
Directors shall be elected at the shareholders’ general meeting for
a term of three years. Upon expiry of the term, a director shall be
eligible for re-election. Accordingly, all Directors are appointed for a
specific term.



EEEBRE

ARBWRERILEZREHEE
€ BEEFERBUHBREFZN
HEEREEERR BEREDR
ERRAEEEBNER =4
EFEREARBFREAENK
RASLEIBRESR -

R-ZFZNF BUEEEHE
“EEAFRRAFAGZHE
moUBERERET EFE
REMBREZEF(REHSELE
BN REBFENREA - ZFE=F
BR-FZFNFRRAFAE L
EGEgSRE ETHE_T——
FERRAFAGZBEER -

RZZEZNFREAFAE R
HEREEDEAHITES AW
FRIEEBEZTABRTES
ITHE_ZT——FREFAFAS
Z BEM -

FHMEEE

ARAER-_ZFEERFOA-+
ARITHFHNEZES -FMEZE
EHARA=ZRBIIFATES
(DRIRBEBLEE  RANTEAE -
BREAE) R -—BHTESR(Z
KPLEE)EX - FHEZESTRE
RBCAEE -FHEZE SR
BENKBERBBMIAERNER
STRIFR PR EEMGIE - £
2EE RARBAEELSAE
BABHMFMHELBRANES
SRLES  BUFNTES
MEFMRAEZTSREES  LiE
EEBATEZTLSREEAR
MBEFMETE  BREFSEN

35

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company does not have a nomination committee. The Board
shall have the collective responsibility to consider and assess the
candidates for directorships based on their characters, qualifications
and experience appropriate for the Group’'s businesses, and
nominate candidates for directorships accordingly. Candidates for
directorship are subject to election by shareholders at shareholders’
general meeting.

In 2009, the term of office for all the Directors expired on the date
of the annual general meeting for the year of 2009 and eligible
for re-election. The Board has nominated all the retiring Directors
(except Mr. Naotoshi TSUTSUMI) as candidate as Directors. The
Directors were re-elected at the annual general meeting for the year
of 2009 who shall hold office until the date of the annual general
meeting for the year of 2012.

In the annual general meeting for the year 2009, Mr. Naotoshi
TSUTSUMI retired as Executive Director and Mr. Masanori
KATAYAMA was elected as Executive Director who shall hold office
until the date of the annual general meeting for the year of 2012.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established its Remuneration Committee on 20th
April, 2006. The Remuneration Committee comprises three
independent non-executive Directors (namely Mr. LONG Tao, Mr.
SONG Xiaojiang and Mr. XU Bingjin) and one executive Director
(namely Mr. LIU Guangming). Mr. LIU Guangming serves as the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee. Responsibilities of the
Remuneration Committee were set based on the recommendations
set out in the Code issued by the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, the
main points are summarised as follows: to recommend the Board
in respect of the remuneration policies for the Directors and senior
management of the Company; to recommend the Board in respect
of the remuneration policies for the independent non-executive
Directors; to determine the specific remunerations for all executive
Directors and senior management members, including nonmonetary
benefits, pension and compensation payment; to ensure that none
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of the Directors or any of their respective associates participate in
the determination of their own remuneration; other recommended
duties set out in various provisions of the Code.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting in 2009.
Attendance rate of the members of the Remuneration Committee
was 100%.

SUPERVISORY COMMITTEE

The Supervisory Committee comprises three members, two of
whom are representatives of the shareholders (namely Ms. MIN
Qing and Ms. ZHOU Hong) and one of whom is the representative
of the staff and workers (namely Mr. ZHANG Wanjin). Ms. MIN Qing
serves as the chairman of the Supervisory Committee. During 2009,
the Supervisors of the Company exercised their right of supervision
in accordance with the laws to protect the legal interests of the
shareholders, the Company and the employees. The details of the
work of the Supervisory Committee are set out in the Supervisory
Committee’s Report in this annual report.

The Supervisory Committee held two meetings in 2009. Attendance
rate of the supervisors was 100%.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established an audit committee with specific
terms of reference in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors,
who possess appropriate commercial and financial skills and
experience to understand financial statements. The Committee is
chaired by Mr. SONG Xiaojiang and other members are Mr. LONG
Tao and Mr. XU Bingjin.
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The terms of reference of the Audit Committee include the duties
to recommend the engagement and replacement of external
audit firms, oversee the Company’s internal auditing system and
implementation, verify the Company's financial information and
disclosure, examine the Company’s internal control system, and
take charge and act as a communication channel between internal
and external auditors.

The Audit Committee held two meetings in 2009 to review the final
results for 2008 and the 2009 interim report. Attendance rate of the
members of the Audit Committee was 100%.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The external auditors currently appointed by the Company are
Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. and Messrs. Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as its PRC and international auditors respectively.
In order to maintain their independence, these accountants do
not take on non-audit work. The work the external auditors are
engaged to perform must produce measurable efficiency and added
value to the Company and should not cause adverse effect on
the independence or independent standing of their audit function.
The remunerations of the auditors are disclosed in the financial
statements.

INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the ultimate responsibility in overseeing the
operation of all business units under the Company’s management. It
shall appoint suitable qualified personnel to serve on the boards of
all subsidiaries and associated companies operating in key business
areas, attending their board meetings to oversee the operations
of these companies. The management in each business division is
accountable for the operations and performance of the business
within its area of responsibility.
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The Company’s management has implemented a system of internal
control to provide reasonable assurance that the Group's assets are
safeguarded, proper accounting records are maintained, applicable
laws and regulations are complied with, reliable financial information
are provided for the Company’'s management for publication
purposes and investment and business risks affecting the Group are
identified and properly managed.

The Directors of the Company review the effectiveness of the
internal control system of the Company and its subsidiaries at least
once every year. The scope of a review includes financial control,
operation control, compliance control and risks management
functions. The Board will also consider the sufficiency with respect
to the resources on accounting and financial reporting functions,
the staff's qualification and experience and the training programs
offered to them as well as the budget. As at 23rd March, 2010, the
Board has completed the aforementioned review for 2009 and the
Board is of the view that the Company's internal control system can
properly and effectively protect the investments of the shareholders
and the assets of the Group.

Since 1 January 2009, the requirements of Rule 3.24 of the Listing
Rules had been removed, pursuant to which the Company is
no longer required to appoint a qualified accountant. However,
the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function has
accounting staff with adequate qualifications and experience to
assist the Company and the Board in fulfilling their continuing
financial and accounting related obligations.
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DIRECTOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

With the assistance of the accounting department, the Board is
responsible for preparing the financial statements for each financial
year and ensuring that, in preparing such financial statements,
appropriate accounting policies are adopted and applied and the
PRC accounting standards and systems and International Financial
Reporting Standards are observed, to give a true and fair view of
the financial position and operating results of the Company. The
statement of the auditors about their responsibilities on the Group's
financial statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report
on pages 41 to 43.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

After announcement of the Company’s interim and annual financial
results, the Company has proactively arranged for briefing meetings
for people from the investment community at regular intervals,
using the opportunity to promote investor relations and two-way
communication. The Company, through the investor relations
manager, responds to the information requests and inquiries
from the investment community. The Company also publishes
information such as the Company’s announcements and circulars on
its website in a timely manner under the requirements of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange.

The Company encourages shareholders to attend the shareholders’
annual general meeting in which the Chairman and Directors will
be on hand to answer questions about the Company’s business
raised by shareholders. The Company distributes annual and interim
reports to shareholders in a timely manner for their inspection.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

In 2010, the Company will continue to dedicate efforts into
enhancing the standard of its corporate governance according to the
ongoing regulatory changes, development trend of the Company,
and feedback opinions from shareholders, ensuring a stable and
healthy growth for the Company while adding value to shareholders.

By Order of the Board
WU Nianqing
Company Secretary

Chongging, the PRC
23 March 2010



B/ % B HRE

BERAEROERIFARR

(PR HE AR L0 30 5 Ml A SZ 9
SINEERMNBRRR)

RZBAITE BRREZINERE
MENIEERAEROEBRA
A([EAfA]) REKEB R E (5iHE
BIEEE]NEREMERE - 11t
HBEREBER_ZETNAF+=
A=+ —B®GRa M BN KA
HEZBLEFENGA2ERE
R HAERZIRREEES
MEXR URETBEHBEHE
R EAK TR o

EXZNGEaMBBRARRENE
£

BERAIZERZRABRERERRE
ARG RMNEBY R E?
Al R FAECA RGP R E E XK
RENAEBEMRA TN RELFS
BUB®HE - EREBRERT -
EkEEERELEEMAF
b 5 4R & B 7 #R R AR B HO 0 AR
26 NESEMHERRTFE
B FF R MG B E A5
R REREREEN G
BR  ARBEBERTEHEED
GaHhET ©

%w} i 19

41

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

TO THE MEMBERS OF QINGLING MOTORS CO., LTD.

(a Sino-foreign joint venture joint stock limited company established
in the People's Republic of China with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Qingling
Motors Co., Ltd (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 44 to 119 which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2009, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes.

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
and the true and fair presentation of these consolidated financial
statements in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. This responsibility includes designing,
implementing and maintaining internal control relevant to the
preparation and the true and fair presentation of the consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate
accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are
reasonable in the circumstances.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. We conducted our audit
in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Those
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance as
to whether the consolidated financial statements are free from
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and
true and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the entity’'s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'’S REPORT

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December
2009 and of the Group's profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
and have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
23 March 2010
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

BE-2TNE BE-RRN\F
+ZA=+-B t=A=t-H
LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008

it AREFT  ARETFT
NOTES RMB'000 RMB'000

Revenue 5,6 4,489,968 3,960,818
Cost of sales (3,809,241) (3,277,654)
Gross profit 680,727 683,164
Other income 143,531 145,288
Other expenses (79) (17,469)
Distribution and selling expenses (381,498) (458,811)
Administrative expenses (140,082) (134,977)
Research expenses (10,085) (11,581)
Profit before tax 8 292,514 205,614
Income tax expense 7 (57,354) (26,295)

Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 235,160 179,319

Profit and total comprehensive
income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 240,827 175,159
Minority interests (5,667) 4,160
235,160 179,319

Basic and diluted earnings per share 13 RMBO.10 RMB0.07
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AT 31 DECEMBER 2009

R-ZELE RZBENEF
+=ZB=+-H +=ZRA=t-H
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
/0f3 ANREFr ANEEF
NOTES RMB’000 RMB'000
ERBEE Non-current assets
ME - BE R Property, plant and equipment 14 1,997,183 2,327,032
A E Prepaid lease payments 15 48,958 40,829
REYE Investment properties 16 53,002 59,176
BREE Intangible assets 17 51,090 56,128
EEHIEEE Deferred tax assets 25 3,496 7,627
H b & BB IR Long term other receivable — 22,841
2,153,729 2,513,633
hEBEE Current assets
FE Inventories 19 554,922 615,694
M B 0 e b e MR Trade and other receivables 20 367,643 329,663
eSS Bills receivables 21 671,170 739,232
BNLHAE Prepaid lease payments 15 1,383 1,189
[REHRBA=[A Bank deposits with original maturity
ZBTER more than three months 22 2,989,816 2,724,367
BIERERS Bank balances and cash 26 2,338,507 1,479,624
6,923,441 5,889,669
REBEE Current liabilities
IR - EREEREMENFUE Trade, bills and other payables 24 1,723,579 1,173,397
TR Tax liabilities 18,308 5,089
1,741,887 1,178,486
REBEERE Net current assets 5,181,554 4,711,183
BEERRBRE Total assets less current liabilities 7,335,283 7,224,816
AR Capital and reserves
LN Share capital 23 2,482,268 2,482,268
B RER#E Share premium and reserves 4,562,768 4,446,053
AREERRERA Equity attributable to owners of
EfE R the Company 7,045,036 6,928,321
SEHRR Minority interests 290,247 296,495
BLAE Total equity 7,335,283 7,224,816

FABEFN9BE ZEFEETERK
ER-_E—ZTF=A_+=HE
EEgMERTERT YAHT

The consolidated financial statements on pages 44 to 119 were
approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 23
March 2010 and are signed on its behalf by:

JIEERKREE
2P 5= LIU Guangming DIRECTOR
BEES PAN Yong DIRECTOR
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At 1 January 2008

Profit for the year,
representing total
comprehensive income
for the year

FEAR Appropriation for the year
— KRR — the Company
— —AHBAR — a subsidiary
NEFERRR Unclaimed H shares dividend of
HERR S prior year
TRZZTLEREHRS 2007 final dividend paid
(Hfzt12) Note 12)
—RNBARRIERR Dividend paid by a subsidiary to
IHBRE minority interest

RZBENETZA=1-H
EREn - IERRa Bk

At 31 December 2008

Profit for the year,
representing total
comprehensive income

for the year

EEAR Appropriation for the year

LN — the Company

— —HKEAR — a subsidiary
DEFEARR Unclaimed H shares dividend of

HERAR S prior year
XH=ZENERERE 2008 final dividend paid

(Hiz12) (Note 12)

—RlEARROERR
EU%5)

RoSBAFT2A=t-A

Kt -

Dividend paid by a subsidiary to
minority interest

At 31 December 2009

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR

THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

@ BAXARPHEESFEE —"ZFHOARK
572,206,000 T(ZZEZEN\E : AR
#572,206,0007T) KIE - HE A E
EEBRBLEREEARARAEK
VYAHEREBEREREALR
RAIMEBEEFEHMMEAEMAMN —F
2 (Bt FE1) - LB AR R R I B F
% 471,500,000,000 f% &) H E A R %
1,500,000,0007T 2 #8 £ Z 5 °
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NERERHEAEE
Attributable to Owners of the Company
AELMEE  fELES
KA RAHRE EADESE  Statutory Discretionary  RERF DPERRES
Share Share Capital surplus surplus Retained it Minority @zt
capital  premium reserve reserve fund reserve fund profits  Sub-total interests Total
ANRETFT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT AREFI
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
MiiEa M2 WE
(note a) (note 12) (note 13)
2,482,268 1,764,905 572,239 730,911 2,289 1,275,015 6,827,627 292,882 7,120,509
= = = = = 175,159 175,159 4,160 179,319
- - - 16,946 - (16,946) — — —
- - - 826 58 (884 — — —
— — — = — 1 1 - 1
- = - — — (74,466 (74,466) — (74,466
— — — — — — — (547) (547)
2,482,268 1,764,905 572,239 748,683 2,347 1,357,879 6,928,321 296,495 7,224,816
— - - - — 240,827 240,827 5,667) 235,160
- - - 25,072 — (25,072) = = =
— - - 1,948 - (1,948) - — —
- - - - - 1 1 — 1
— — — - — (124113) (124,113) — (124113)
— — — — — — — (581) (581)
2,482,268 1,764,905 572,239 775,703 2,347 1,447 574 7,045,036 290,247 7,335,283
Note:
(a) The capital reserve mainly includes an amount of approximately

RMB572,206,000 (2008: RMB572,206,000) which represents the excess of the
value of the net assets immediately before the establishment of the Company
injected into the Company by Qingling Group and Qingling as part of the
reorganisation (note 1) which was approved by the State Administration of State-
owned Assets, over the nominal value of the 1,500,000,000 shares issued upon
establishment of the Company of RMB1,500,000,000.



mMEREREE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
B E2000F12A31 A ILEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

BE-2TNE BE-BRN\F
+ZA=+-B t=A=t-H
LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
AEETT  ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000

BExK OPERATING ACTIVITIES
BR A% AL A Profit before tax 292,514 205,614
BERE : Adjustments for:
MBKA Interest income (100,438) (111,309)
nE - BERRENE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 338,475 278,965
B EESRH Amortisation of intangible assets 10,130 11,955
BN i e # Release of prepaid lease payments 1,350 1,189
RENEME Depreciation of investment properties 6,174 6,174
REFE%EE Allowance for obsolete inventories 7,157 12,124
REGFEEERER Utilization of allowance for obsolete inventories (34,693) (15,232)
HEWE - WiFE Rk E L ER Loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment 79 94
HEAS AR EEERR BN Operating cash flows before movements in
working capital 520,748 389,674
FERD Decrease in inventories 88,208 40,791
R TR 0 e A R MR TR Increase in trade and other receivables (133,876) (121,251)
EREERD Decrease in bills receivables 68,062 166,702
FERERR - R RRRAMENTKIE Increase (decrease) in trade, bills and
#2m ORd) other payables 555,034 (1,758)
REEBIREN Cash generated from operation 1,098,176 474,058
BT PERZE Income taxes paid (40,004) (42,093)
REXBZRSRATR NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,058,172 431,965
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Increase in fixed deposit with banks

Purchase of intangible asset

Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Prepaid lease payment for land use right

Interest received

Collections of receivables from disposal of
property, plant and equipment in prior years

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Dividends paid

Dividends paid to minority shareholder
Unclaimed H shares dividend of prior year

NET CASH USED IN FINANCING ACTIVITIES

NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT 1 JANUARY

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT 31 DECEMBER, REPRESENTED BY
BANK BALANCES AND CASH

BE-2TNE BE-BRN\F
t=B=t+-8 +t=A=+-H

LFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
ARETFT ARETFT

RMB'000 RMB'000
(287,276) (648,658)
(9,512) (6,789)
(7,970) (11,538)
(354) =
122,265 78,719
108,251 129,487
(74,596) (458,779)
(124,113) (74,466)
(581) (547)

1 1
(124,693) (75,012)
858,883 (101,826)
1,479,624 1,581,450
2,338,507 1,479,624
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

1. GENERAL

The Company was registered in 1 Xiexing Cun, Zhong Liang
Shan, Jiu Long Po District, Chongging, PRC and mainly engaged
in the production and sale of Isuzu light, medium and heavy-duty
trucks, pick-up trucks, multi-purposes vehicles and diesel and
petrol engines. The principal activities of its subsidiaries and joint
controlled entities are set out in notes 33 and 18 respectively.

The Company was reorganised into a Sino-foreign joint venture joint
stock limited company on 18 May 1994 as part of a reorganisation
of a state-owned enterprise E#2)98E (£EB) BRAF (“Qingling
Group”), and EERAEBR AT (“Qingling”), a Sino-foreign equity
joint venture company. Prior to the reorganisation, Qingling Group
and Qingling separately owned the operations and the relevant
assets and liabilities relating to various automobile manufacturing
processes. Pursuant to the reorganisation, certain of the operations
and the relevant assets and liabilities of Qingling Group and other
assets of the remaining shareholders of Qingling were reorganised
and injected into Qingling which was reorganised and converted
into a Sino-foreign joint venture joint stock limited company
(the "Reorganisation”). Qingling Group becomes the parent and
ultimate holding company of the Company subsequent to the
Reorganisation.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi
("RMB") which is also the functional currency of the Company.

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

In the current year, the Group has applied a number of new and
revised Standards, Amendments and Interpretations (“new and
revised HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"), which are effective for the Group's
financial year beginning on 1 January 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Cont'd)

The adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no material
effect on the consolidated financial statements of the Group for
the current or prior accounting periods. Accordingly, no prior period
adjustment is required.

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation and disclosure
only

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) Presentation of Financial Statements

HKAS 1 (Revised 2007) has introduced terminology changes,
including revised titles for the consolidated financial statements
and changes in the format and content of the consolidated financial
statements.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments

HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that has not resulted in a
redesignation of the Group's reportable segments but changed the
basis of measurement of segment profit or loss, segment assets
and segment liabilities as compared with the primary reportable
segments determined in accordance with HKAS 14 Segment
Reporting (see Note 6).

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
Standards, Amendments and Interpretations that have been issued
but are not yet effective.

HKFRSs (Amendments)  Amendment to HKFRS 5 as part of

Improvements to HKFRSs 2008’
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

(Cont'd)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation and disclosure

only (Cont’d)

HKFRSs (Amendments)

HKAS 24 (Revised)

HKAS 27 (Revised)

HKAS 32 (Amendment)

HKAS 39 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 1 (Amendment)

HKFRS 2 (Amendment)

HKFRS 3 (Revised)

HKFRS 9

HK (IFRIC) — Int 14
(Amendment)

Improvements to HKFRSs 2009?

Related Party Disclosures®

Consolidated and

Separate Financial Statements'

Classification of Rights Issues*

Eligible Hedged Items'

Additional Exemptions for
First-time Adopters®

Limited Exemptions from
Comparative HKFRS 7

Disclosures for First-time Adopters®

Group Cash-settled

Share-based Payment Transactions?®

Business Combinations’

Financial Instruments’

Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement®
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")
(Cont'd)

New and revised HKFRSs affecting presentation and disclosure

only (Cont’d)

HK (IFRIC) — Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to
Owners'

HK (IFRIC) — Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with

Equity Instruments®

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009

2 Amendments that are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July
2009 or 1 January 2010, as appropriate

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2010
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 February 2010
5 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010

6 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011
7 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013

The adoption of HKFRS 3 (Revised) may affect the accounting for
business combination for which the acquisition dates are on or
after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on
or after 1 July 2009. HKAS 27 (Revised) will affect the accounting
treatment for changes in the Group’'s ownership interest in a
subsidiary.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of other
new and revised Standards, Amendments or Interpretations will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements.



B R R MR

HZE200912 A31 8 [FEE

3. FESHHEXE

iR e ISR R T DA R S2 R AN 18

e -

RAMBHRRIRRE L GTH
REBEMNBEMBREERR
Hofps HEMBRREES
BMERZMERAAES L™
AR R B ECR R R G R E B E
RWE -

REREEXE

RAVBERREEBEARARAR
AMMES N ERENERA)
ZHBRR - EFNDEARAEF
BREE-—HEBIUBREER
RAREXFBHERA S -

REARBILENMB AR E
BHBREBEMAHEXEED
ELEMBHLEWER)FAKSE
BER -

MERE  AESHNERAN
MBEHRRFLAR  FEHEFK
RETAAXAEBEEAMKE QB MAE
RE -

SERNBERFRZRS - &8
WARRAZERGERE PHEH -

REMBAREEFEZLEK
RigEsm EASEREPZES
DHZ5 - EEFERNNDHK
RESBRZSHEINRELA
HFEHRNERERDBBRREMNS
EHEHEFNESZES - DH
P 3RFE 1 &5 1R 7R i A BB R A Y
BRI  TEOEE
AEBEDETUEE  BRIFELH
BRRAEBEHNRNNEME XA
FHBINRBEBERMZEER

58

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued
by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has the
power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so
as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year
are included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective
date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into line with those
used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are
eliminated on consolidation.

Minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries
are presented separately from the Group’s equity therein. Minority
interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those interests
at the date of the original business combination and the minority’s
share of changes in equity since the date of the combination.
Losses applicable to the minority in excess of the minority’s interest
in the subsidiary’s equity are allocated against the interests of the
Group except to the extent that the minority has a binding obligation
and is able to make an additional investment to cover the losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Jointly controlled entities

Joint venture arrangements that involve the establishment of
a separate entity in which venturers have joint control over the
economic activity of the entity are referred to as jointly controlled
entities. The Group recognises its interests in jointly controlled
entities using the proportionate consolidation method. The Group's
share of each of the assets, liabilities, income and expenses
of the jointly controlled entities are combined with the Group's
similar items in the consolidated financial statements on a line-by-
line basis. Transactions and balances between the Group and the
jointly controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the jointly controlled entities.

When a group entity transacts with a jointly controlled entity of the
Group, profits or losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group's
interest in the jointly controlled entity.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received
or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods sold in
the normal course of business, net of discounts and sales related
taxes.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis,
by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the
financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purposes (other than construction in progress) are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress over their
estimated useful lives after taking into account of their estimated
residual values, using the straight-line method.

Specialised production facilities and moulds which can be identified
in relation to specific production processes are depreciated by
reference to the expected production volume of these facilities and
moulds.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for its own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less any
recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress is classified
to the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for intended use. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the
assets are ready for their intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of the assets (calculated as the difference between
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item)
is included in profit or loss in the period in which the item is
derecognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Prepaid lease payments

The prepayments made on acquiring land use rights represent
prepaid lease payments and are accounted for as an operating lease.
The prepaid lease payment is released on a straight-line basis over
the lease term, or when there is impairment, the impairment is
recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for
capital appreciation.

On initial recognition, investment properties are measured at
cost, including any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is charged so as to write off the
cost of investment properties using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use or
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as
the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in
which the item is derecognized.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finances lease whenever the terms of lease

transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Leasing (Cont’d)

The Group as lessor

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Benefits
received and receivable as an incentive to enter into an operating
lease are recognised as a reduction of rental expenses over the
lease term on a straight-line basis.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the respective functional
currency (i.e. the currency of the primary economic environment in
which the entity operates) at the rates of exchanges prevailing on
the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated
at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit
or loss in the period in which they arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Government grants

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Grants related to expense items are recognised in the same period
as those expenses are charged to the profit or loss and are reported
separately as ‘other income’.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are
charged as an expense when employees have rendered service
entitling them to the contributions.

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit schemes are dealt
with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Group's
obligations under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a
defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years, and
it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Taxation (Cont’'d)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries and jointly
controlled entities, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary difference
associated with such investments are only recognised to the extent
that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they
are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or
part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Taxation (Cont’'d)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred
tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items
that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in
equity, in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful lives are
carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite
useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis over their estimated
useful lives.

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or loss
in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Research and development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in
the period in which it is incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any.

If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an
expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined
had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition
of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets

The Group’s financial assets are classified into loans and
receivables.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income
over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including
all fees, points paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or
discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt
instruments.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’d)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market.
Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables (including
trade and other receivables, bills receivables, bank deposits and
bank balances and cash) are carried at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any identified impairment losses (see
accounting policy on impairment loss on financial assets below).

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets of the Group are assessed for indicators of
impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets
are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of
the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial
assets have been negatively affected. The objective evidence of
impairment could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or

° default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy
or financial re-organisation.



B R R MR

HZE200912 A31 8 [FEE

3. FESFEREME
SRIA(E)
EHEE (&)

& L2 B SR 5 1 R 7 I M8 B R B
METEMEERR  HRIEZE
BEELETRENG - HREYK
BRAURE - EEAE WL
F 5B B ANE R 50 e IR B
A0 GA Re B 2R R 3 [ 48 7% 3R 1R )
LA EREKRERNER
ELEMBERTHENTERIERE -

LR BHEAAINENEREEM
EOREEBRDRERERESR
REELRBERNIED AR
RV RZEENREERZRR
EERMEFROMGETREERE S
MENRERMNEZRTE -

IAEEREEMS SREE
MEAEERRBREBRRD
He W BR KBRS - HBRE(E )Y E
BEREERE MR - BER
BMEEEZEINEDNER -
i /R W B R 1 AR 23 SR Y El - Rl
REHEREZE  HRKEEE
ZIHE R UMGRIE A AR A ©

BRZBEHEHXAFEZERE
E-HMRERBEE REBRS
BB D - T EZORL A ] R B b
RBEBREELEZEHMAH
AEpER 2 BEBREBED
REDEZEERBEERER
HeREEMNBAEY EER
WMEZBRTREE 2 EBEKA -

64

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont’'d)

Financial instruments (Cont’d)

Financial assets (Cont’d)

Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables,
assets that are assessed not to be impaired individually are
subsequently assessed for impairment on a collective basis.
Objective evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables
could include the Group's past experience of collecting payments,
an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past
the average credit period, observable changes in national or local
economic conditions that correlate with default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment loss
is recognised in profit or loss when there is objective evidence that
the asset is impaired, and is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the estimated
future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception
of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through
the use of an allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of
the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss. When a trade
receivable is considered uncollectible, it is written off against the
allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent
period, the amount of impairment loss decreases and the decrease
can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment
losses was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss
is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying
amount of the asset at the date the impairment is reversed does
not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the
impairment not been recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Financial liabilities and equity

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Group
are classified according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability
and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its liabilities.
The Group’s financial liabilities are mainly trade, bills and other
payables.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees, points paid or received that form an integral part
of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial liability, or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities including trade, bills and other payables are
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.



B R R MR

HZE200912 A31 8 [FEE

3. FESEE#E
ERTHE(HE)
HUE B

EEEEWRBRREREZENE
MATREENEZNAKED
HEMEEZMBREZBRIBD
B b ERER - RIS RBE E WK
HUBHER - RBUEBER S REE
B EERBEEMZS KLER
RERMEZZE  REZAMRE

=7
o ©

EEHANMIRE TEER -
HEFIERE  EREESHER
HIER - BURHRZEBAREZ
FHEESHNREMNRKEZEAZ
Z8 REBERANER -

4. FEMFIBREERER

EREAMEIM 2 AEE g5t
BRE  AEEZEFHARR
EREMERKRERECEER
BEREEELDHE - {er ki
ReoBEREERRDREER
BLEMBEAESEBIAEME
He BEREXAA AR RIN UL FH
AHEE e

BEtREEBRREFEREREE
TIAER - HIERTERFEZXER]
HIf - @atfhat 2 BRI RNERI A
FHEIEER - AHERT R ERE
KAEHE AIRETZHER
HRHImRER -

TEGH T RERHE

RBEHARBEERRREHT
EMBRFEFREEERAGBEZREE
BEEAFHBMERKRABOE
ERFLMEFTEEL ZEME
ZRIJRIAT e

66

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Cont'd)
Financial instruments (Cont’d)
Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash
flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of the financial assets. On derecognition of a financial
asset, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised
in profit or loss.

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Group are required to make
judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment
to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next
financial year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Cont'd)

Net realisable value of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business, less estimated cost to be
incurred to completion and disposal. These estimates are based
on the current market condition and the historical experience of
selling products of similar nature. It could change significantly as
a result of changes in customer taste or competitor actions in
response to severe consumer product industry cycles. Management
reassesses these estimates at the end of the reporting period.
As at 31 December 2009, the carrying amount of inventory net
of allowance for obsolete inventories is RMB554,992,000 (2008:
RMB615,594,000).

5. REVENUE

Revenue represents revenue arising on goods sold by the Group
to outside customers, net of discounts and sales related tax. The
following is an analysis of the Group’'s revenue from its major

products.
BE-RBNAE BE-SINF
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H
LLFE LLFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
AEETT AEETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
Sales of trucks and vehicles 4,332,546 3,720,138
Sales of automobile parts and accessories 157,422 240,680

4,489,968 3,960,818
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group has adopted HKFRS 8 Operating Segments with effect
from 1 January 2009. HKFRS 8 is a disclosure standard that requires
operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports
about components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by
the chief operating decision maker for the purpose of allocating
resources to segments and assessing their performance. In
contrast, the predecessor standard (HKAS 14 Segment Reporting)
required an entity to identify two sets of segments (business
and geographical), using a risks and returns approach, with the
entity’s ‘system of internal financial reporting to key management
personnel’ serving only as starting point for the identification of such
segments.

The Group is currently engaged in the manufacture and sales of
six products — light-duty trucks, multi-purposes vehicles, pick-
up trucks, medium and heavy-duty trucks, other vehicles and
automobile parts and accessories and the chief operating decision
marker (i.e. the Company's directors) also review the segment
information by these categories to allocate resources to segments
and to assess their performance. The application of HKFRS 8 has
not resulted in a redesignation of the Group’s reportable segments
but has changed the basis of measurement of segment profit or
loss, segment assets and segment liabilities as compared with
the primary reportable segments determined in accordance with
HKAS 14. The items related to the jointly controlled entities under
proportionate consolidation are not regularly reviewed by the chief
operating decision maker for the purpose of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
Principal business segments are as follows:

— manufacture and sales of
light-duty trucks

— manufacture and sales of
multi-purposes vehicles

— manufacture and sales of
pick-up trucks

— manufacture and sales of medium
and heavy-duty trucks

— manufacture and sales of
vehicles other than those
identified above

— manufacture and sales of
automobile parts and accessories

Light-duty trucks
Multi-purposes vehicles
Pick-up trucks

Medium and

heavy-duty trucks
Other vehicles

Automobile parts and
accessories
(i) Segment revenues and results

The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results by
reportable segment:

For the year ended 31 December 2009

2HERE  SUENE EFE PEREHE  AHRE RERAREL Ga

Multi- Medium and Automobile
Light-duty  purposes Pick-up heavy-duty Other  parts and
trucks vehicles trucks trucks vehicles ~ accessories Consolidated

NEBTE AR ARKTn  AEETn  AEEFr  ARETr  ARETT
RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  AMB000  AMB000  AMB000

Segment revenue 2,016,563 19,029 1,444,424 851,848 682 157,422 4,489,968
Segment result 111,316 7420 20,835 44,519 664 10,592) 174,162
Central administration costs (37,967)
Interest income 96,887
Other income 39,981

Items related to jointly
controlled entities under

proportionate
consolidation 19,441
Profit before tax 292514
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(i) Segment revenues and results (Cont’d)

For the year ended 31 December 2008

#HERE  SUENE KFE PEREHE  RHNE RERARDH Ga

Multi- Medium and Automobile
Light-duty ~ purposes Pick-up  heavy-duty Other  parts and
trucks vehicles trucks trucks vehicles ~ accessories Consolidated

NEBTL  NEETn  AEKTn  AEETn  AEETr  ARETr  ARETn
RMB000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  AMB000  AMB000  AMB'000

Segment revenue 1,953,750 6,817 1,179,275 580,180 116 240,680 3,960,818
Segment result 115,658 4,303 16,695 8,304 113 24,655) 120418
Central administration costs 62,223)
Interest income 108,550
Other income 30,774

Items related to jointly controlled
entities under proportionate
consolidation 8,095

Profit before tax 205,614

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group’s accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
result represents the profit earned by or loss from each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, non-recurring
income/expenses, and the items related to jointly controlled entities
under proportionate consolidation. This is the measure reported to
the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(if) Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by

reportable segment:

&a

accessories Consolidated

31/12/2009
BUEAE  SYERE EFE $EREHE  HHAE REEARIE
Multi- Medium and Automobile
Light-duty ~ purposes Pick-up heavy-duty Other  parts and
trucks vehicles trucks trucks vehicles
NEETT  ARETR  ANERTT  ARETT  ARETT  ARETx
RMB'O00  RMBO00  RMB000  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'000
Assets
Segment assets 892,893 3,067 379,575 959,239 106 133,259
Interchangeably used assets
hetween segments
— property, plant and
equipment
— prepaid lease payments
— inventories
Investment properties
Bank deposits and
bank balances
Other unallocated assets
Items related to jointly controlled
entities under proportionate
consolidation
Consolidated total assets
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 348,294 3672 146,577 67,574 38 15,885

Unallocated trae, bills and
other payables

Other unallocated liabilities
Items related to jointly controlled
entities under proportionate

consolidation

Consolidated total liabilities

AEETT
RMB'000

2,368,139

889,486
50,341
82,574
53,002

5,168,460
108,418

356,750

9,077,170

582,040

1,129,148
15,723

14,976

1,741,887
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(if) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

31/12/2008

Assets

Segment assets

Interchangeably used assets
between segments
— property, plant and
equipment
— prepaid lease payments
— inventories
Investment properties
Bank deposits and bank balances
Other unallocated assets
Items related to jointly controlled
entities under proportionate

consolidation

Consolidated total assets

Liabilities

Segment liabilities

Unallocated trade, bills and

other payables

Other unallocated liabilities
Items related to jointly controlled
entities under proportionate

consolidation

Consolidated total liabllities

2UERE  SYENE RFE PERENE  AHRE RESAREHA
Multi- Medium and Automobile

Light-duty ~ purposes Pick-up  heavy-duty Other  parts and
trucks vehicles trucks trucks vehicles  accessories
NEEFT  AREFT  AREFr AREFr AREFr  ARETT
RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB'00  RMB000  AMB000
1,009,624 1,207 499,142 1,147,731 - 51,226
152,269 1212 76,372 55,850 8 17,409

Ga

Consolidated
NREFT
RMB000

2,708,930

1,064,572
42018
86,698
59,176

4,077,276
42,749

321,883

8,403,302

303,120

786,350
4374

84,642

1,178,486
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(if) Segment assets and liabilities (Cont’d)

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

o All assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
interchangeably used assets between segments, investment
property, bank deposits and bank balances, deferred tax assets
and other unallocated assets held by the head office; and

° All liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
liabilities related to interchangeably used assets between
segments and other unallocated liabilities of the head office.

The items related to jointly controlled entities under proportionate
consolidation are not allocated to reportable segment assets and
liabilities. This is the measure reported to the chief operating
decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and
performance assessment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(iii) Other segment information

2009
HERH
AUERE  SMERE R+% pRRERE  RfRE Rt £ER &8
Multi- Medium and Automobile

Light-duty  purposes Pick-up heavy-duty Other  parts and

trucks  vehicles trucks trucks  vehicles accessories Unallocated Consolidated
NEETT NEEFT AEETL A\RETL ARETT AREFr AREFr ARETT
RMB000  RMBO00  RMB'000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000  RMB000

OTHER INFORMATION
Amount included in the
measure of segment profit
orloss or segment assets:
Allowance for obsolete
inventories 2,981 — — 4170 — — — 7,157
Utilization of allowance for

absolete inventories

upon sale) (5,428 (1) (20,036) = 2,118 - = (34,693
Additions of property,

plant and equipment — — — 17 — — 8,695 8712
Additions of intangible

assets 5,092 — — — — — — 5,092
Additions of prepaid lease

payment — — — — — — 9,673 9,673
Amortisation of intangible

assets 3228 557 303 6,042 - - - 10,130
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 74,442 — 130,339 100,584 — — 33,110 338475
Depreciation of investment

properties — — — — — — 6,174 6,174

Release of prepaid-lease
payments — — — — — — 1,350 1,350
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont’d)

(ifi) Other segment information (Cont’d)

2008
RERH
AUERE  SMERE R+% pRRERE  RfRE Rt £ER &8
Multi- Medium and Automobile

Light-duty  purposes Pick-up  heavy-duty Other  parts and

trucks  vehicles trucks trucks  vehicles accessories Unallocated Consolidated
NEETT AEETT ARETT ARKFL NGETT AREFT A\GRTL ARETT
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'O00  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000

OTHER INFORMATION
Amount included in the
measure of segment profit
or loss or segment assets:
Allowance for obsolete
inventories 12124 - - - — — — 12,124
Utilization of allowance for
obsolete inventories

upon sale) — (129) (4,286)  (10,605) 212) - - 15,232)
Additions of property,

plant and equipment — — — 3,002 — — 9733 12,735
Additions of intangible

assets - - — 14,260 — — — 14,260
Amortisation of intangible

assets 3,216 887 1,99 5,797 - - - 11,955
Depreciation of property,

plant and equipment 74,845 — 118,462 60,423 — — 25,235 278,965
Depreciation of investment

properties 6,174 6,174
Release of prepaid lease

payments - - - - - — 1,189 1,189

(iv) Geographical information

Non-current assets of the Group amounting to RMB2,150,233,000
(2008: RMB2,483,165,000) are located in the People's Republic of
China (the “PRC") and substantially all of the sales of the Group are
also made to customers located in the PRC. The Group has made
limited export sales to countries outside PRC which accounted for
approximately 0.48% (2008: 3.40%) of the Group's revenue.

All of the carrying amount of segment assets and additions to
property, plant and equipment are located in the PRC for both years
presented.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Cont'd)
(v) Information about major customers

No revenues from a single external customer amount to 10% or
more of the Group’s revenue.

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

BE-RBNE BE-STNF
t=A=1t-B t=A=t+-*H

LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2009 31/12/2008

AEETFT  ARETFTL

RMB'000 RMB'000

Current tax 38,588 27,297
Over provision of current tax in prior year = (1,468)
Additional tax paid by a subsidiary 14,635 —
Deferred tax charge (Note 25) 4,131 466
57,354 26,295

According to the Implementation of Transitional Preferential Policies
for Enterprise Income Tax by Guo Fa [2007] No. 39, the Group
continue to entitle the Enterprise Income Tax rate of 15% which
is applicable for companies located in the western zone of China.
The Company and EEEHKEEEGRAF (“Qingling Moulds”), a
subsidiary of the Company, enjoy 15% income tax rate because
they both locate in western zone of China.

BEEHEMT A (“Qingling Technical Centre”) is a subsidiary of
the Company established in 1998 for research and development
activities and has not yet commenced business since its
establishment. During the current year, Qingling Technical
Centre came into an agreement with the local tax bureau and
Qingling Technical Centre paid a tax for the interest income
it had accumulatively received in prior years. An amount of
RMB14,635,000 was then paid during this year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

7. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Cont’d)

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per
consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

BECZENEF BE-BTN\F
+=A=t-8 +=A=t-8
LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
ARETFT — ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Profit before tax 292,514 205,614
Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 15%

(2008: 15%) 43,877 30,842
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for

tax purpose 537 248
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose = (1,703)
Additional tax benefit and refund applicable to

the Group (note) (2,010) (1,624)
Effect of different tax rate in a subsidiary 315 —
Over-provision in prior year — (1,468)
Additional tax paid by a subsidiary 14,635 —
Tax charge for the year 57,354 26,295

Note:
The additional tax benefit and refund applicable to the Group are as follows:
Pursuant to the relevant tax rules and regulation, expenses in research nature are

tax deductible at 150% of the cost incurred. The related tax benefit amounted to
RMB2,010,000 (2008: RMB1,624,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Profit before tax has been arrived at
after charging:

Salaries and other payments and benefits
Retirement benefits scheme contributions

Total staff costs (including directors’ and
supervisors' remuneration (see note 9))

Allowance for obsolete inventories (included in
cost of sales)

Amortisation of intangible assets (included in
cost of sales)

Auditors’ remuneration

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment

Depreciation of investment property

Release of prepaid lease payments
(included in cost of sales)

Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment

Minimum lease payments under operating
leases in respect of rented premises

Net foreign exchange loss

Cost of inventories recognised as an expense

and after crediting:

Interest income from bank deposits and balances

Income from renting of building, moulds and
tooling equipment

Government grant

Net foreign exchange gain

BE-RBNE BE-ZINF
tT=A=1t-R t=A=t+-*H

HFE LFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008

AREFTT ANREFTT
RMB'000 RMB'000
101,407 88,051
14,133 12,383
115,540 100,434
7,157 12,124
10,130 11,955
2,982 3,109
338,475 278,965
6,174 6,174
1,350 1,189

79 94

18,933 16,340

— 17,069
3,802,084 3,265,530
100,438 111,309
34,960 33,546
1,175 1,038
5,076 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’ EMOLUMENTS

B4R

2

Salaries and

[ other
Fee benefits

=S

| ETT
Nekin

RMB000

RMB000

m

= m
= m
= m

P 53

Performance
related
incentive

payments

BiEH
AR
Retirement
benefit

scheme

note] ~contributions

“ERE
2008

it

Total
NEETT

RMB000

264
8

m
m
m

BiER

Pedormance SR
relited  Retiement  Z¥FAE
incentive benefit 2009
payments scheme i
[notg] - contributions Total
A AR NERTE
RMB'000 RMB000 RMB'000
= 7 304
- 1 262
- 7 262
- I 262
- 7 262
- 3 1352
n 1 101
5 6 9
2 3 &
8 5 68
200 i 23
200 5 1,646

ESR
EfeEA
Salaries
and
e other
Fee benefits
NERTTE
RMB000
Executive directors
Wu Yun - 97
(Gao Jianmin 25
Makoto Tanaka -
Liy Guangming - 285
Pan Yong - i)
Yue Huagiang - 255
Naotoshi Tsutsumi - -
Masanoti Katayama o
= 1317
Independent non-
executive directors
Long Tao -
Song Xiaojiang -
Xu Bingjin - -
Supervisors"
remuneration
Min Qing - B
Zheng Gang - 17
Zhang Wanjin - 10
Zhou Hong - 15
- (]
- 1382
Note:

The performance related incentive payment is determined by reference to the

individual performance of the supervisors and approved by the Remuneration

Committee (composed by one executive director and three independent non-

executive directors).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

9. DIRECTORS’ AND SUPERVISORS’' EMOLUMENTS
(Cont'd)

No directors waived any emoluments in the year ended 31
December 2009 (2008: nil).

All the five highest paid individuals of the Group for both years were
directors.

10. TRANSFER TO STATUTORY SURPLUS RESERVE
FUND

The statutory surplus reserve fund represents the appropriation
of 10% of profit after taxation for the year of the Company and
its subsidiary — Qingling Moulds, calculated in accordance with
PRC Accounting Standards and Regulations (“PRC GAAP") and the
Articles of Association of the Company and Qingling Moulds. The
appropriation may cease to apply if the balance of the statutory
surplus reserve fund has reached 50% of the registered share
capital of the Company and Qingling Moulds respectively. According
to the Articles of Association of the Company and Qingling Moulds,
statutory surplus reserve fund can be used to make up prior year
losses, to expand production operations or to increase capital.
The Company and Qingling Moulds may capitalise the statutory
surplus reserve fund by way of bonus issues provided that the
remaining amount of statutory surplus reserve fund after such
distribution shall not be less than 25% of the registered capital of
the Company and Qingling Moulds. The amount shall be submitted
to shareholders’ general meeting for approval.

11. TRANSFER TO DISCRETIONARY SURPLUS RESERVE
FUND

The amount transferred to discretionary surplus reserve fund is
based on nil (2008: 30%) of the profit after taxation for the year
of a subsidiary of the Company — Qingling Moulds, prepared in
accordance with PRC GAAP and Articles of Association of Qingling
Moulds.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

12. DIVIDEND

BE-RBNE BE-ZINF
+=ZA=+-B t=A=t-8H
LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
AREFIT AREFT

RMB’000 RMB’000
Dividends recognised as distributions
during the year:
2008 Final, paid — RMB0.05
(2008: 2007 Final, paid RMBO0.03) per share
124,113 74,466

A final dividend amounting to RMB198,581,000 of RMBO0.08 in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: final dividend
amounting to RMB124,113,000 of RMBO0.05 in respect of the year
ended 31 December 2008) per share has been proposed by the
directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders in the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the following

data:

Earnings

Earnings for the purpose of basic and diluted
earnings per share (Profit for the year
attributable to owners of the Company)

Number of shares

Number of shares for the purpose of basic
and diluted earnings per share

BE-RBNE BE-SINF
tT=A=1t-R t=A=t+-*H

LLFE LLFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008

AEETFT AEETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
240,827 175,159

BE-RBNE BE-ZTNF
t=A=1t-A t=A=t+-H

LLFE LLFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008

FiK T
‘000 ‘000
2,482,268 2,482,268

There were no potential ordinary shares in both years presented.
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14.
COST
At 1 January 2008
Additions
Transfer from construction
in progress

Disposals to its shareholder
Disposals

At 31 December 2008

Additions

Transfer from construction
in progress

Disposals

At 31 December 2009

DEPRECIATION

At 1 January 2008

Provided for the year

Eliminated on disposals o its
shareholder

Eliminated on disposals

At 31 December 2008
Provided for the year
Eliminated on disposals

At 31 December 2009

CARRYING VALUES
At 31 December 2009

At 31 December 2008

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE-HE &W %E

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

KR e

Moulds,  Furniture, RE  EEIE
BF plantand fixtures and Motor Construction @t
Buildings machinery equipment vehicles in progress Total
NEBEFT AREFT ARETT ARETT AREFT ARETT
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
510,530 3,809,781 68,467 23,910 38,818 4,451,506
— 3,114 — 207 9,414 12,735
— 24,641 294 1,283 (26,218) —
— (116,676) — — = (116,676)
= = = (1,023) — (1,023)
510,530 3,720,860 68,761 24,377 22,014 4,346,542
— 64 — — 8,648 8,712
226 7,163 — 592 (7,981) —
= (50) = (802) = (852)
510,756 3,728,037 68,761 24,167 22,681 4,354,402
207583 1494416 51783 19,098 — 1792880
24,608 249,643 3,701 1,013 - 278,965
— (51,415) = — = (51,415)
= = = (920) = (920)
262191 1,692,644 55484 19,191 — 2019510
2581 312,368 2,011 1,515 — 338475
— (45) — (721) — (766)
274772 2004967 5749 19,985 — 2357219
235984 1,723,070 11,266 4,182 22,681 1,997,183
258,339 2,028,216 13,277 5,186 22,014 2,327,032
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Cont’d)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Buildings 20 years
Moulds, plant and machinery,

except for specialised production

facilities and moulds 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 5 years

Specialised production facilities and moulds included in moulds,
plant and machinery which can be identified in relation to specific
production processes are depreciated by reference to the expected
production volume of these facilities and moulds. Other moulds,
plant and machinery which are for general production purposes are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over 10 years.

As at 31 December 2009, the carrying amount of moulds and
machinery that has been leased out was RMB704,397,000 (2008:
RMB760,532,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS

R-BBAF R-BENF
+2A=+-B +ZA=f-A
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
NRBFT — AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

The Group's prepaid lease payments comprise:
Medium-term land use right in PRC 50,341 42,018

Analysis for reporting purpose as:

Non-current asset 48.958 40,829
Current asset 1,383 1,189
50,341 42,018

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2009 2008
ARETT — AREFIL
RMB’000 RMB'000

COST
At 1 January and 31 December 125,962 125,962

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 January 66,786 60,612
Provided for the year 6,174 6,174
At 31 December 72,960 66,786
CARRYING VALUES

At 31 December 53,002 59,176

Since 2007, the Company leased out certain properties to its jointly
controlled entity, Qingling Isuzu Engine, for an initial term of 3
years. These properties were reclassified from property, plant and
equipment to investment properties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Cont’d)

Gross rental income from investment properties amounted to
RMB6,120,000 (2008: RMB6,120,000).

The above investment properties are situated in the PRC with
medium lease term and are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
20 years.

17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

BmE=RE
Technology transfer fees
2009 2008
ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
COST
At 1 January 285,593 271,333
Additions 5,092 14,260
At 31 December 290,685 285,593
AMORTISATION
At 1 January 229,465 217,510
Provided for the year 10,130 11,955
At 31 December 239,595 229,465
CARRYING AMOUNT
At 31 December 51,090 56,128

Payments of technology transfer fees and lump sum royalties under
technology transfer agreements with Isuzu Motors Limited (“Isuzu”)
are capitalised as intangible assets and are amortised over license
period ranging from ten years to thirteen years, commencing from
the use of the technologies in production. Continuing royalties
payable to Isuzu under the technology transfer agreements are
charged to the expenses as and when incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Engine Co., Ltd. (B FE 1+ (EE)
LA A E], “Qingling Isuzu Engine”) was established in May
2007, and is mainly engaged in manufacture of engines and relevant
parts. The registered capital is US$84,260,000, and the Company
contributed US$42,130,000, approximately RMB307,743,000 to
Qingling Isuzu Engine. The Company and Isuzu Motors Limited
(“Isuzu”) held 50% of issued capital respectively.

Qingling Isuzu (Chongging) Automobile Sales and Service Co.,
Ltd. (B8R T35 () AEHEEREAERARF, “Qingling Isuzu
Sales”) was established in September 2008, and is mainly engaged
in selling of Isuzu automobiles and parts. The registered capital
is US$4,600,000, and the Company contributed US$2,300,000,
approximately RMB15,714,000 to Qingling Isuzu Sales. The
Company and Isuzu held 50% of issued capital respectively.

As at 31 December 2009, the Group had interests in the following
jointly controlled entity:

rEEER
ZBRT
BRAEELA
Proportion
of nominal BE2
value of RERLH
AMRLHE ETEEEHY issued capital  Proportion of FE%H
Place of Principal place held by  voting power Principal
establishment of operation the Group held activities
hE ] 50% 50% EEKRIAH
PRC PRC D) BE
Manufacture
of engines and
relevant parts
th HE 50% 50% HERLT®R
PRC PRC RE R
Selling of Isuzu
automobiles
and parts



Bt 7% o3& M & NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A Z=2009F 128318 IEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
18. RHEREFH EEELS (H) 18. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Cont’d)
7N & B R R4 i & B & 4G AR The summarised financial information in respect of the Group's
EBEEZZUBER(F AL interest in jointly controlled entities attributable to the Group's
SRR - WERIEE W) B interest therein which is accounted for using proportionate
™ consolidation with the line-by-line reporting format is set out below:
2009 2008
AREFT  ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
MRBEE Current assets 181,741 132,712
ERBEE Non-current assets 175,009 189,171
nRBAR Current liabilities 14,976 84,642
EREEE Non-current liabilities — —
8 & A RER R YA Income recognised in profit or loss 525,869 434,538
B & R R X Expenses recognised in profit or loss 507,580 427,217
EERF Profit for the year 18,289 7,371
19. & 19. INVENTORIES

R-2BRE R-ZENF
T=A=1t-A t=A=t+-H
31/12/2009  31/12/2008
ARBTT  ARETT
RMB'000 RMB000

BEE Raw materials 336,780 455,936
EH G Work in progress 129,202 65,683
B Finished goods 88,940 93,975

554,922 615,694

88
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(@) At the end of the reporting period, the balance of trade and
other receivables includes amounts due from Qingling Group
and its subsidiaries and Qingling Isuzu Engine as follows:

R-REAE  R-BRNE
+=A=t+-8 +=A=t-8

31/12/2009 31/12/2008

AEETFT AEETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Qingling Group 153,992 67,567
Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 91,014 20,082
Qingling Isuzu Engine — 75,614
245,006 163,263

Receivables from subsidiaries of Qingling Group were in trade
nature and aged within 3 months.

Receivables from Qingling Group of RMB131,151,000 (2008:
RMB35,287,000) are trade in nature, of which RMB79,752,000
(2008: RMB35,287,000) are aged within 6 months and
RMB51,399,000 (2008: nil) are aged between 7 to 12 months.

Receivables from Qingling Group amounted RMB22,841,000
(2008: RMB32,280,000) are non-trade nature, interest-free and are
expected to be settled in 2010 based on the signed agreement.

Receivables from Qingling Isuzu Engine were non-trade nature,
interest-free, which were all settled in 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of trade
receivables, net of allowances, of the Group is as follows:

R-ZBAE H-BENF
+=A=t-H +=A=t-A

31/12/2009 31/12/2008

ANREFT ANEMFr

RMB'000 RMB'000

Within 3 months 186,232 84,020
Between 3 to 6 months 3,700 3,047
Between 7 to 12 months 51,399 —
Over 2 years 274 274
241,605 87,341

Other receivables 32,140 127,762
Prepayments 93,898 114,560
367,643 329,663

As at 31 December 2009, trade and other receivables of
RMB7,352,000 (2008: RMB20,120,000) were denominated in JPY,
other than the functional currency of the respective group entities.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external
credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit
quality and defines credit limits by customer. Limits and scoring
attributed to customers are reviewed twice a year. 98% (2008:
96%) of the trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired
have the best credit scoring attributable under the external credit
scoring system used by the Group.

The credit period granted on sales of goods is 3 to 6 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of trade
receivables, net of allowances, of the Group is as follows:
(Cont'd)

Included in the Group’'s trade receivable balance are debtors
with a carrying amount of approximately RMB51,673,000 (2008:
approximately RMB274,000) which are past due at the end of
the reporting period for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss, of which RMB51,399,000 is due from Qingling
Group. The Group does not consider any risk on subsequent
collections, and all of these receivables have been subsequently
settled in February and March 2010. The Group does not hold any
collateral over these balances.

Included in prepayments is an amount of approximately
RMB82,249,000 (2008: RMB97,520,000) related to the advance
payment to independent suppliers of steel as of 31 December 2009.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Cont’d)

(c) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of trade
receivables of the Group which are past due but not impaired,
net of allowances, is as follows:

R-BBAE RIFINF
tT=A=1t-A t=A=t-H
31/12/2009  31/12/2008
ARETT  ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

Between 7 to 12 months 51,399 —
Over 2 years 274 274
51,673 274

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

R-BBNF R-BENF
+2A=+-B +ZA=f-A
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
ARBFT  AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

Balance at beginning and ending of the year 4,595 4,595

Allowance for doubtful debts are provided for individually impaired
trade receivables with an aggregate balance of RMB4,595,000
(2008: RMB4,595,000) which are in financial difficulties.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

21. BILLS RECEIVABLES

At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of bills
receivables of the Group is as follows:

R-REAE  R-BRNE
+=A=t+-8 +=A=t-8

31/12/2009 31/12/2008

AREFT ANEREFTT

RMB'000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 113,315 171,691
Between 1 to 2 months 130,259 94,375
Between 2 to 3 months 130,012 81,725
Between 4 to 6 months 297,584 391,441
671,170 739,232

All the above bills receivables are guaranteed by banks and their
expiry dates ranged from 30 to 180 days.

22. BANK DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY MORE
THAN THREE MONTHS

The amounts represented bank fixed deposits with original maturity
of 6 to 12 months and their respective interest rates are ranging
from 2.25% to 2.52% (2008: 2.52% to 4.14%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2009, fixed deposits amounting to
RMB29,693,000 (2008: RMB36,101,000) were denominated in USD,
other than the functional currency of the respective group entities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

23. SHARE CAPITAL

“EZAER
—BENE
2009 and 2008
AREFT
RMB'000

Registered, issued and fully paid 2,482,268

RAEE
Number of shares
“EENER
—BRN\E

2009 and 2008
TR

‘000

Shares of RMB1 each
— Domestic shares 1,243,616

— H shares 1,238,652

2,482,268

Domestic shares are ordinary shares subscribed for and credited
as fully paid up in Renminbi by PRC government and/or entities
established in PRC. H Shares are ordinary shares subscribed for
in Hong Kong Dollar and credited as fully paid up in Renminbi by
persons other than PRC government and/or entities established in
PRC.

Domestic shares and H shares rank pari passu in all respects with
each other.

Domestic shares are not freely traded in The Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

There were no change in the registered, issued and fully paid share
capital of the Company during both years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES

(@) At the end of the reporting period, the balances of trade
payables included the amounts due to Isuzu and its wholly-
owned subsidiary, Isuzu (China) Holding Co., Ltd. (hereafter
collectively referred to as “lsuzu Group"”), subsidiaries of
Qingling Group and Qingling Isuzu Engine as follows:

R-BEBAE RIFINF
tT=A=1t-R t=A=t+-*H
31/12/2009  31/12/2008
ARETT  ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

Isuzu Group 77,070 74,333
Subsidiaries of Qingling Group 2,133 1,817
Qingling Isuzu Engine 11,055 —

90,258 76,150

These amounts are in trade nature, unsecured, interest free and the
credit period granted on purchases of materials is 3 to 6 months.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

24. TRADE, BILLS AND OTHER PAYABLES (Cont’d)

(b) At the end of the reporting period, the aged analysis of trade
and bills payables of the Group is as follows:

R-BBAE RIFINF
tT=A=1t-A t=A=t-H
31/12/2009  31/12/2008
ARETT  ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB'000

Within 3 months 888,795 698,263
Between 3 to 6 months 172,336 138,361
Between 7 to 12 months 706 642
QOver 12 months 32,460 3,235

1,094,297 840,501
Accrued selling expenses 245,726 214,375
Value added tax payable 25,584 1,176
Other payables 36,831 32,891
Advance from customers 321,141 84,454

1,723,579 1,173,397

At the end of the reporting period, trade, bills and other payables
amounted to RMB76,944,000 (2008: RMB46,400,000) are
denominated in JPY, other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities.
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A Z=2009F12H31H IEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
25, REEMREBEBEE 25. DEFERRED TAXATION
ULTEREE 2 ERANEZERE The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised and
EMBEEREES movements thereon during the current year:
RERE
Allowance
for inventories
AREFT
RMB'000
RZZZN\F—-H—H At 1 January 2008 8,093
FABR Charge to profit or loss (466)
R-ZZEENF+-_A=1+—H At 31 December 2008 7,627
FABEE Charge to profit or loss (4,131)
RZBENFET_A=1T—H At 31 December 2009 3,496
26. RITHEBRRERES 26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH
RITEBEO TS FH X A0.36% The market interest rate of bank balances is 0.36% (2008: 0.36%
—EE)NF 0.36%%F0.72%) ° to 0.72%) per annum. The bank balances and cash that are
LATE R & B & 88 /) Ih B B B LA S denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies of
ERTIERNRITER IR S HT the relevant group entities are set out below:
R

R-ZZRFE RIZBENF
+ZA=+-B +=ZA=+-H
31/12/2009  31/12/2008
AREFT AREFT

RMB'000 RMB'000
% UsD 31,553 10,700
B JPY 40,908 42,008

72,461 52,708
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

27. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable
to owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, and
reserves, and retained earnings.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure from
time to time. As part of this review, the directors consider the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. The
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment
of dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

28. £RITH 28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) €T EMEHA (a) Categories of financial instruments
BE-TBhF BE-RTNF
t=A=t+-R t=A=+-H
ILEE ILEE
Year ended  Year ended
31/12/2009  31/12/2008
AEETT  ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
SREBE Financial assets
(2 13 e iy 2 TE Loan and receivables
H 4 & B e W 20E Long term other receivable = 22,841
AN Trade receivables 241,605 87,341
H A fE Yy 2 Other receivables 32,140 127,762
[ AER: Bill receivables 671,170 739,232
BISMAREB=AAYRED Bank deposits with original maturity
more than three months 2,989,816 2,724,367
PIEBEES Bank balances and cash 2,338,507 1,479,624
6,273,238 5,181,167
SRERE Financial liabilities
b A Amortised cost
EREZLENEE Trade and bills payables 1,094,297 840,501
FRMEDB Accrued selling expenses 245,726 214,375
E 5 12 B 7 Value added tax payable 25,584 1,176
H 4 e 2E Other payables 36,831 32,891
1,402,438 1,088,943
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’'d)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group's major financial instruments include trade and other
receivables, bills receivables, bank deposits, bank balances and cash
and trade, bills payables and other payables. Details of the financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk (interest rate
risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. There has been
no significant change to the Group’s exposure to these risks or
the manner in which it manages and measures these risks. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Several entities of the Group have foreign currency purchases,
sales, which expose the Group to currency risk. The Group
considers the currency risk insignificant and does not use any
derivative contracts to hedge against its exposure to currency risk.
The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely monitoring
the movement of the foreign currency rate.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated
monetary assets and monetary liabilities that are subject to currency
risk at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

8f BE

Liabilities Assets
“ZERE CZEE\E BN —ZEINE
tZA tZA TR +=A
=t-H =t+-H == =t+-H
31/12/2009  31/12/2008  31/12/2009  31/12/2008
NEEFT  AREFT AREFT ARETT
RMB'000  RMB000  RMB'000  RMB'000

United State Dollar (“USD") = — 61,246 46,801
Japanese Yen (“JPY") 76,944 46,400 48,260 62,128
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’'d)

Market risk (Cont’d)
(i)  Currency risk (Cont’d)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the risk of fluctuations in USD and
JPY.

The following table details the Group’'s sensitivity to a 5%
increase in the RMB against JPY and USD. 5% is the sensitivity
rate used when reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents management’'s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency
denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at
the period end for a 5% change in RMB against JPY and USD.
A (negative) and positive number below indicates a (decrease)
and increase in profit for the year, respectively, where the RMB
strengthen 5% against USD and JPY. For a 5% weakening of the
RMB against USD and JPY, there would be an equal and opposite
impact on the profit for the year.

2009 2008
ARETT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB'000

Profit or loss
usb (2,603) (1,989)
JPY 1,219 (668)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’'d)

Market risk (Cont’d)
(i) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
bank balances.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on
the fluctuation of deposit interest rate arising from the Group's bank
balances.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to bank balances carried prevailing deposit interest rate
at the end of the reporting period. 0.27% (2008: 0.27%) increase
or decrease in interest rate is used when reporting interest rate
risk internally to key management personnel and represents
management’'s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 0.27% higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group's:

o post-tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2009 would
increase/decrease by approximately RMB5,367,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2009 (2008: increase/decrease by
RMB3,396,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group's
exposure to interest rates on its bank balances.



B R R MR

HZE200912 A31 8 [FEE

28. &R T A&

(b) MEERBREZERREEK
(%)

=EmERE

F_;?ﬂ¢+ A=+—8"

RBHETRERTEEMAR
$$l REA 5 B R 2 AN B &
REERR  HRBHEEPBHR
MK ZEEHREMEEL
REE -

RBREEERR AKEEERE
ERER—ENNEREEEEE
RELREERRF H ABBRREKRR
EEEKROBRARNHOEER-
BN RBEMBPR - AEES
HEERERNEZEERNAKE
TR AERATA KBS REIE
HRAEBERE - ERNU L
I ARBAEERRAEENE
SEERBREBRERD -

R AR E IS E Y R E
Z*f%%ﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂmh
B MEKBEES B ZE
ERBRSER -

B EE20PT i BE 2 E R E 5 © 88
ZEERRED  ANEETHF
E%LEZETﬁﬁI“IE&
FBEZTEP BRI KE
B 2 YRR R & E b FE W R IE 2
EERRYTBRESY  ARs
ARZEXSHAEEP AR
$%l2ﬁ?ﬁ%&ﬁﬁﬁﬁr
MR ESREEFTRHN TR
ﬁﬁ’fﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%m@ﬁ
THEERBREBAR -

103

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’'d)

Credit risk

As at 31 December 2009, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit
risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure
to perform an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits
and monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken
to recover overdue debtors. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debtor at the end of the
reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group's credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The credit risk on amounts due from related parties is limited
because the Group also periodically evaluated the related parties
credit rating and these related parties’ credit rating is high.

There is concentration of credit risk on amounts due from related
parties, which have been disclosed in note 20 and the Group
periodically evaluated the related parties credit rating and also look
for more non-related party customers. Apart from that, the Group
does not have significant concentration of credit risk on trade and
other receivables, with exposure spread over a number of counter-
parties and customers. The credit risk on liquid fund which are
deposited with several banks is limited because the Group's bank
deposits and bank balances are deposited with authorised banks in
the PRC with high credit-ratings.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont’d)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Cont’d)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The Group relies on
cash generated from operating activities as a significant source
of liquidity. For the year ended 31 December 2009, the Group
have cash generated from operating activities of approximately
RMB1,058,172,000 (2008: RMB431,965,000), trade receivable and
bills receivables can be received within six months based on the
earliest date on which the Group can require payments and bank
balances can be drawn on demand. The directors believe that
the Group will have sufficient funds available to meet its financial
obligations in the foreseeable future based on management working
capital forecast.

The following tables detail the Group’'s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest
date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows.

T
(kS KR

Weighted BEREME FAZKER
average SRR MARE1E Total  Camrying
effective Less than 1234 3 months  undiscounted amount

interest rate Tmonth  1-3 months tolyear  cashflows at year end
NEEFE  AREFT  ARETT  ARETT ARETR
% RMB000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

At 31 December

2009
Trade and bills

payables - 555,476 319,156 219,665 1,094,297 1,094,297
QOther payables - 87,5% 91,137 129410 308,141 308,141

643,070 410,293 349,07 1402438 1402438

At 31 December

2008
Trade and bills

payables - 313,144 157,571 309,786 840,501 840,501
Other payables - 49,802 89,323 109,317 248442 248442

422,946 246,894 419,103 1,088,943 1,088,943
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

28. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Cont'd)
(¢) Fair values

The fair value of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices or rates
from observable current market transactions as inputs.

The directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised costs in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

29 BEFRS &8 29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

AEBOBET ERENHE
20(a) &2 24(a) °

The Group's related party balances are set out in notes 20 (a) and
24 (a).

REEAN  AEEEBESET During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions

THR S : with related parties:
(i) EEREEREMEBEATN (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
X%
(a) ARAZ&LIZERAF (a) Qingling Group, the ultimate holding company of the
ERE Company
XEEHE Type of transaction
BE-2BNEF BE-ZIN\F
+ZA=t—-HB +=ZA=t+-H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
AREFIT AREFT
RMB'000 RMB’000
HER & Sales of chassis 88,559 39,489
HET R REM AR Sales of parts and raw materials
EEARAETHH(HE) for the manufacture of
automobile parts (Note 1) 33,740 27,962
HENE BER Sales of property, plant
B and equipment — 65,261
BEAETHMH(ME2) Purchases of automobile parts
(Note 2) 45,024 52,947
HEEEX T Expenses for renting warehouse 6,040 5,830
MEERES T Expenses for renting equipment 1,380 1,380
R &= Service fee expense 300 256
MR A R Income from renting of moulds
Z WA and machinery = 1,546
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(i)
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BMELRS /&t (E)

HERKERENE QAN
X% (&)

BPEET -

a2 -

(b)

FAZTETAFEZARE
5,384,000t (=& )\ & ¢
A R #200,000 ) & AR
# 25,921,000 c(ZEZE N
# : AR ¥3,050,0007T) %
EIJ1J@'%$¢WW§F€J§%/1
HEEMBRZEEFRA
(($§Eﬂuj)&i§§$%iﬁ$t
HBEBRAR ([ L3 ]) 8
EMHREME 2 £ o #
MEEEHRERERZE
BB AA o

FAZTETAFEZARE
5,700,0007T (= 2= )\ & :
AR #749,0007T) & A R
#34,182,000 T(ZZEZE )N\
£ : A R¥5,353,0007T) 5
BIRRAFE R RN R
BATBIG S8 -

EREBEZMBARE
EERBERRAQA

XEEE

BEETHM
HET R REM AR
EEARETEM
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

29.

(i)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Cont’d)

Note 1: Included in the 2009 amount are RMB5,384,000 (2008: RMB200,000)
and RMB25,921,000 (2008: RMB3,050,000) representing the sales of
parts and raw materials to EERELTEHINE Buu%Lﬁl‘E ("1
") and EEERGE LEREFRAGF (" LE respecnvely durmg
the current year. #0 and £ are both wholly-owned subsidiaries of
Qingling Group.

Note 2: Included in the 2009 amount are RMB5,700,000 (2008: RMB749,000)
and RMB34,182,000 (2008: RMB5,353,000) representing the purchases
of automobile parts from # /N and 3 respectively during the current
year.

(b) EEERFEEERAF], asubsidiary of Qingling Group

Type of transaction

BE-ZBNE BECETNF
+=A=t-B +=A=1+-H
LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
AREFT AEEFT
RMB’000 RMB'000

Purchases of automobile parts 11,873 18,270
Sales of parts and raw materials for

the manufacture of automobile

parts 15,725 15,219
Expenses for renting equipment 1,564 1,070




Bt 7% o3& M & NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B E2009F12H31HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
29. BEARS &R (E) 29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont’d)
(i) EEREEREMEATN (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
x5 (&) (Cont'd)
(c) BREBEZHBARE (c) EEERBEER AR, asubsidiary of Qingling Group

BERBERR AR

XEESE Type of transaction
BE-2BNEF BE-ZI)N\F
+ZA=t—-B +=ZA=t+-H
LEE LEE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
AREFT  AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BERETIG Purchases of automobile parts 30,755 41,078
& T E 1 R B BHARE Sales of parts and raw materials for
KEARETHH the manufacture of automobile
parts 2,224 2,834
HERET Expenses for renting equipment 8,642 5,913
HEgFKRA Rental income from renting
of building 200 200
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B E2009F12H31HIEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
29. BEARS &R (E) 29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont’d)
(i) EEREEREMEATHN (i) Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
R 5 (&) (Cont'd)
d EREEZWBARE (d) EEEBHREBERAT, asubsidiary of Qingling Group
EERBERBBRAA
XEEE Type of transaction

BE-ZBNE BECETNF
+=A=t-B +=A=1+-H
LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008

ARETT  ARETT

RMB'000 RMB'000
BEASTHMH Purchases of automobile parts 322,005 263,192
HETHMHRRMHUE Sales of parts and raw materials for
EERETHA the manufacture of automobile
parts 60,527 58,320
(e) EREEZWBAARE (e) EEEKRAEEFAEMRAR, asubsidiary of Qingling Group
EERAZEERARA
=
XEEH Type of transaction
HEZ-ZThF BECRENF
+=A=t-H t=A=1+-H
LLFE ILFE
Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
ABETFT  ARETT
RMB'000 RMB'000
BELETIMH® Purchases of automobile parts 43,114 31,788
HESDHERBEMEE Sales of parts and raw materials for
HEEEET R the manufacture of automobile
parts 9,385 6,855
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

29.

(i)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Cont’d)

(f)

EEERPEIAR AT, a subsidiary of Qingling Group

Type of transaction

BE-ETNE BE-EEN\E
+=A=+—-H +t=A=+—H

LEE

Year ended

31/12/2009

AEETT

RMB’000

Purchases of automobile parts 63,818
Sales of parts and raw materials for

the manufacture of automobile
parts 14,175

LLFE
Year ended
31/12/2008
AEETT

RMB'000

47,494

14,293
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

29.

(i)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

Transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
(Cont’d)

(9)

EEEREIRAR AT, a subsidiary of Qingling Group

Type of transaction

BE-ETNE BE-EEN\E
+=A=+—-H +t=A=+—H

LEE

Year ended

31/12/2009

AEETT

RMB’000

Purchases of automobile parts 8,843
Sales of parts and raw materials for

the manufacture of automobile
parts 956
Sales of moulds =

LLFE
Year ended
31/12/2008
AEETT

RMB'000

11,5623

1,300
1,622




Bt 7% o3& M & NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HZE2009F12A31 B ItFEE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
29, BEARS & E) 29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)
(i) BXRAATNEERRE T (ii) Transactions with Isuzu Group that is controlled by Isuzu,
EHNETREENRS the substantial shareholder of the Company
XEEH Type of transaction

BE-ZZThE BE-ZENF
+=ZA=t-B +=ZA=1+-A
LEE LEE
ANREFT  ARETFT
RMB'000 RMB’000

HEEBRAMEBERHES Royalties on sale of trucks

E’U?ﬂﬁ’é% and other vehicles 48,480 29,782
HEEETBUHURE M Sales of accessory sets and other

ABEZHREH automobile parts and components 21,863 135,763
BETHRBMH Purchases of parts and components 822,927 844,412
RiTEEE Technical transfer fee 5,092 14,260
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES

(Cont'd)

(ifi) Transactions with Qingling Isuzu Engine, a jointly

controlled entity of the Group

Type of transaction

Sales of accessory sets
and raw materials
Purchases of automobile parts
Rental income for investment
properties
Consolidated services income

Above transactions represented

BE_ETNE BE-ETN\E
+=A=+—H t=A=+—H

LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
AREFr AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
766,933 626,441
1,051,440 869,900

72,600 63,600

1,610 4,077

the total amounts before

elimination of the Group's interests of 50% in the jointly controlled

entity based on proportional consolidation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(iv) Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities
in the PRC

The Group operates in an economic environment currently
predominated by entities directly or indirectly owned or controlled
by the PRC government (“state-controlled entities”). In addition,
the Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
Qingling Group which is controlled by the PRC government. Apart
from the transactions with Qingling Group and its subsidiaries
disclosed in section (i) above, the Group also conducts businesses
with other state-controlled entities. The directors consider those
state-controlled entities are independent third parties so far as the
Group’s business transactions with them are concerned.

Material transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities
are as follow:

BZ_ZThE BZE-ZEN\E
+ZR=+-B +t=ZRA=+-H

LEE LEE

Year ended Year ended

31/12/2009 31/12/2008

AREFT AREFTT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Trade sales 1,059,664 872,490
Trade purchases 682,646 621,447
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(iv) Transactions/balances with other state-controlled entities
in the PRC (Cont’d)

R-2BRE R-ZENF
tT=A=1t-R t=A=t-H

31/12/2009 31/12/2008
ANREFT AREFTT
RMB'000 RMB’000
Trade and other balances due to
other state-controlled entities 194,316 170,929
Trade and other balances due from
other state-controlled entities 211,546 240,771

In addition, the Group has entered into various transactions,
including utilities services and surcharges/taxes charged by the
PRC government, and deposits and borrowings and other general
banking facilities with certain banks and financial institutions which
are state-controlled entities in its ordinary course of business. In
view of the nature of these banking transactions, the directors are
of the opinion that separate disclosure would not be meaningful.

Except as disclosed above, the directors are of the opinion that
transactions with other state-controlled entities are not significant to
the Group's operations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/BALANCES
(Cont'd)

(v) Compensation of directors and key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follow:

BECZENEF BE-BEN\F
+=A=1-8 +=A=t-8
LLFE LLFE

Year ended Year ended
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
AEETT  ARETT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Short-term benefits 2,364 2,010
Post-employment benefits 48 80
2,459 2,090

30. COMMITMENTS

(@) At the end of the reporting period, the Group had the following
capital commitments:

R-ZERE RIZEENF
+ZA=t—-B +=ZA=t+-H
31/12/2009  31/12/2008
ARETFT  ARETFT

RMB’000 RMB’000
Contracted for but not provided in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of
acquisition of property, plant and equipment 3,260 2,020
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A Z=2009F12H31H IEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009
30. AIE(E) 30. COMMITMENTS (Cont’'d)
b) FR_FTNF+ A (b) The Company had the capital commitment US$12,639,000

=t —HAARRBARE=ZRE

A (approximately RMB86, 383,000) for the third capital injection
BRRATHRENKRIESES

& K EE 512,639,000 7 to Qingling Isuzu Engine at 31 December' 2008. Pursuantlto
(47 A #86,383,0007¢ ) ° the agreement, the Company has contributed such capital
ARBRIERSED & AT and there is no capital commitment outstanding as of 31
HE® RZZEZENF+= December 20009.
A=+—8  ARQa W EH
BRE AN AHE o
31. ReEHE 31. OPERATING LEASE
AEBEREBAA The Group as lessee
RIEHPR  AEERBER A At the end of the reporting period, the Group had commitments for
T B ) HA 2 A AT B A = AR A future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating
i A A PE B AT R R &R EFHIE leases which fall due as follows:
R
RZBEAF RIBENF
+=A=+-B t=A=t-H
31/12/2009 31/12/2008
AREFT  AREFT
RMB'000 RMB'000
1R/ Within one year 21,049 17,505
EIFERF (RREEEMTF) In the second to fifth year inclusive 3,020 22,163
24,069 39,668
KEHEREREASBRERES Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group
TEELZNMES - HELCHE for certain of its warehouses. Leases are negotiated for an average
FHERE—FHXME - term of one or two years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

31. OPERATING LEASE (Cont’d)

The Group as lessor

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had contracted with
tenants for the following future minimum lease payments:

R=2BAF R-ZBEN\F
t=A=t-R t=A=+-H

31/12/2009 31/12/2008

ARETFT — ARETT

RMB'000 RMB'000

Within one year 32,380 36,300
In the second to fifth year inclusive — 32,800
32,380 69,100

Other than the above, the Group does not have any other
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases of property, plant and equipment and
investment property at the end of the reporting period.

32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS

The Group has a service agreement with its ultimate holding
company, Qingling Group, whereby the Company will reimburse
the contributions made by Qingling Group to a defined contribution
pension scheme administered by the municipal government in
respect of the staff of the Group. According to such scheme,
Qingling Group shall annually pay an amount, calculated at a
percentage of the total wages of the staff, to a retirement fund
administered by the municipal government. The amount paid during
the year under such arrangement amounted to RMB14,133,000
(2008: RMB12,283,000). Pensions shall be paid to the retired staff
out of this retirement fund.
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A Z=2009F12H31H IEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2009

32. ERKEFRGE (&) 32. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (Cont’'d)

R|EHAER  BETHEERE At the end of the reporting period, there were no forfeited
R E 5B 2 Al i B R K AE A contributions which arose upon employees leaving the retirement
rEmEAT AR REAREER benefits scheme before they are fully vested in the contributions
BFTASMNERE 2 E R HEHR and which are available to reduce the contributions payable by the
(ZZ2EZENF : &) o Group in future (2008: nil).

33. FEMBEAT 33. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
RZEZENF+_A=+—"8BK Particulars of the Company's subsidiaries at 31 December 2009 and
—EENFFT+Z_A=+—HAAR 31 December 2008 are as follows:

AN BLARFBENT

KARERERN
MR EEER FHEBHEA EMEREENE 2L
Country of Form of ZMEAR  Percentage of nominal value of
HWEARAE registration business Registered  registered capital directly held by FZ#7§
Name of subsidiary ~ and operation  structure capital the Company Principal activities
2009 2008
EFERBARRAR  HE—TIEE  EMRY 38,166,600% 7 50.56% 50.56% HEREAE
([ERER]) BELE Incorporated US$38,166,600 BHEMEL
EEEREEBRAR  PRC — Sino Production of moulds
("Qingling Moulds") foreign equity for the manufacture
joint venture of automobile parts
ERELRATL hE —HHNEE KT 29,980,000% 7% 51% 51% HARRER
REhE Incorporated 1S$29,980,000 Not yet commenced
PRC — Sino business
foreign equity
joint venture
FRZEWNBRARATERBERE The subsidiaries had no debt securities outstanding at the end of the
HESH year.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Financial summary — in accordance with Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

2009

BE+T-A=t—-HLEE

2008

2007

For the Year ended 31 December

2006

2005

ARETT ARBTT ARETIT ARKTT AREFT
RMB'000  RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

Revenue 4,489,968 3,960,818 3,756,513 3,342,442 3,212,726
Profit before tax 292,514 205,614 190,912 89,741 46,374
Income tax expense (57,354)  (26,295)  (19,798) (10,273 (6,765)
Profit for the year 235,160 179,319 171,114 79,468 39,609
Attributable to:

Owners of the
Company 240,827 175,159 159,236 77,688 39,330
Minority interests (5,667) 4,160 11,878 1,780 279
235,160 179,319 171,114 79,468 39,609
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

Financial summary — in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Cont’d)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

Total assets
Total liabilities

Total equity

Attributable to:
Owners of the
Company

Minority interest

Rt=A=t-8H

As at 31 December
2009 2008 2007 2006 2005
NEETT ARETT ARETT ARETFT ARKTT
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000

9,077,170 8,403,302 8,308,426 7,918,078 8,212,316
(1,741,887) (1,178,486) (1,187,917)  (980,587) (1,343,842)

7,335,283 7,224,816 7,120,509 6,937,491 6,868,474

7,045,036 6,928,321 6,827,627 6,718,036 6,689,991
290,247 296,495 292,882 219,465 178,483

7,335,283 7,224,816 7,120,509 6,937,491 6,868,474
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PROPOSAL FOR APPROPRIATION OF PROFIT
FOR THE YEAR OF 2009

In accordance with the pertinent regulations and based on the actual

situation of the Company, the board of directors of the Company

resolved that the proposed appropriation of profit for the year of
2009 be as follows:

Note:

The appropriation of net profits after taxation shall be: 10% for
Statutory Reserve Fund, 0% for Statutory Public Benefit Fund
(Note) and 90% for profit available for distribution.

A final dividend of RMBO0.08 per share in cash is proposed
to be paid to the shareholders whose names appear on the
register of shareholders on Monday, 10 May 2010. Further
announcement will be made as to the exact form of payment.

This proposal is subject to the approval by the shareholders at
the annual general meeting.

In accordance with the amendment to the Company Law of PRC on 27 October
2005 effective from 1 January 2006, and pursuant to the Company'’s articles of
association and the resolutions of the board of directors of the Company, the
Company decided not to accrue for Statutory Public Benefit Fund from the year
of 2006.

Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
23 March 2010
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notice is hereby given that the annual general meeting (the
“AGM") of Qingling Motors Co. Ltd (the "Company”) will be
held at the Conference Hall, 1st Floor of Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
Office Building, 1 Xiexing Cun, Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District,
Chongaing, the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") on Tuesday,
1 June 2010 at 10:00 a.m. for the following purposes:

1. To consider and approve the report of the board of directors of
the Company (the “Board”) for the year of 2009.

2.  To consider and approve the report of the supervisory
committee of the Company for the year of 2009.

3. To consider and approve the audited financial statements and
the independent auditor’s report of the Company for the year
of 2009.

4. To consider and approve the proposal for appropriation of profit
of the Company for the year of 2009.

5. To re-appoint Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd. and Deloitte
Touche Tohmatsu as the Company’'s PRC and international
auditors respectively for the year of 2010 and to authorise the
Board to determine their remunerations.

By Order of the Board
WU Niangqing
Company Secretary

Chongging, PRC
13 April 2010
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Notes:
(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

Any shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the meeting mentioned above is
entitled to appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote at the meeting on his/
her behalf in accordance with the articles of association of the Company. A proxy

need not be a shareholder of the Company.

In order to be valid, the proxy form and, if such proxy form is signed by a
person under a power of attorney or other authority on behalf of the appointer, a
notarially certified copy of that power of attorney or authority shall be deposited
at legal address of the Company (in the case of proxy form of holder of domestic
shares) or at the Company’s H Share Registrars, Hong Kong Registrars Limited,
at 17M Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong (in
the case of proxy form of holder of H shares) not less than 24 hours before the
time for holding the meeting or 24 hours before the time appointed for taking the

poll.

Shareholders or their proxies shall produce their identity documents when

attending the meeting.

The register of shareholders of the Company will be closed from Saturday, 1
May 2010 to Tuesday, 1 June 2010 (both dates inclusive), during which period

no transfer of shares will be registered.

Shareholders whose names appear in the register of shareholders on Saturday, 1

May 2010 are entitled to attend and vote at the meeting.

Shareholders who intend to attend the meeting shall complete and lodge the
reply slip for attending the meeting at the Company's legal address at 1 Xiexing
Cun, Zhongliangshan, Jiulongpo District, Chongging, the PRC on or before
Wednesday, 12 May 2010. The reply slip may be delivered to the Company by
hand, by post, by cable or by fax (at fax no.: (86) 23-68830397).

The final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2009 is expected to be paid
on or before Tuesday, 15 June 2010 to the shareholders whose names appear

on the register of shareholders on Monday, 10 May 2010.
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NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

(viii)

(ix)

(xi)

In order to qualify for the final dividend mentioned above, holders of H shares
whose transfers have not been registered shall deposit the transfers together
with the relevant share certificates at the Company's H Share Registrars, Hong
Kong Registrars Limited, at Shops 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 30
April 2010.

The AGM is not expected to take more than half a day. Shareholders or their
proxies attending the AGM shall be responsible for their own travel and

accommodation expenses.

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, all votes of the shareholders at
the meeting will be taken by poll and the Company will announce the results of

the poll in the manner prescribed under Rule 13.39(5) of the Listing Rules.

As at the date of this notice, the Board comprises 10 directors, of which Mr. WU
Yun, Mr. GAO Jianmin, Mr. Makoto TANAKA, Mr. Masanori KATAYAMA, Mr.
LIU Guangming, Mr. PAN Yong, Mr. YUE Huagiang are executive directors and
Mr. LONG Tao, Mr. SONG Xiaojiang and Mr. XU Bingjin are independent non-

executive directors.
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

=2 DIRECTORS

HITEFE - Executive Directors:

RE(EER) WU Yun (Chairman)

BER GAO Jianmin

A A (4B A HE) Makoto TANAKA (General Manager)
A E B Masanori KATAYAMA

21 ¢ 87 LIU Guangming

& B PAN Yong

4u i og YUE Huagiang

BB ITEE - Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Bes LONG Tao

R/NT SONG Xiaojiang

®Ee XU Bingjin

BE= SUPERVISORS

BB MIN Qing

AN ZHOU Hong

KB ® ZHANG Wanjin

ARAME COMPANY SECRETARY
FEEFE PRC: WU Nianging

BB RED

Hong Kong: TUNG Tat Chiu Michael

AUDIT COMMITTEE
SONG Xiaojiang (Committee Chairman)

Bes LONG Tao

BE® XU Bingjin

FMHEES REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

BB (ZE2FE) LIU Guangming (Committee Chairman)

= LONG Tao

R/NT SONG Xiaojiang

BE® XU Bingjin

ANTAEREZ- B CORPORATE INFORMATION AVAILABLE AT

ERAEROMBERAT Qingling Motors Co. Ltd
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3£ TE Hb ut LEGAL ADDRESS

FEE AR LME 1 Xiexing Cun

BEM Zhongliangshan

NBEH @ Jiulongpo District

2L Chongging

15 LAY — 5% the People’s Republic of China

ERTEE XM PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
o) 5 Suite 4901, 49th Floor

& B R Office Tower, Convention Plaza

EEESHAKNE 1 Harbour Road

49124901 = Wanchai, Hong Kong

UNETE BT COMPANY’'S WEBSITE

www.qgingling.com.cn www.qgingling.com.cn

BB EELE SHARE REGISTRARS

ERBBLHELRBERAA Hong Kong Registrars Limited

s Shops 1712-1716

B2 A 1835 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre

SN 183 Queen's Road East, Wanchai

17121716 % Hong Kong

HER B 17 & i it Bh H SHARE LISTING PLACE

EBBAERSIMBRAT The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Bt (5 ¢ 1122 Stock code: 1122

FEARBIT PRINCIPAL BANKERS

FERITEESTT Bank of China, Chongging Branch

ZBRITEEDT Bank of Communications, Chongging Branch
PEITEHIRITEE DT The Commercial and Industrial Bank of China, Chongging Branch
FETIHETRRLREEE The Commercial and Industrial Bank of China, Zhongliangshan Office
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% B Em AUDITORS
EEEXSIHMEHMBERAF Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu CPA Ltd.
hEARKM 8/F, Office Tower W2

it = ™ 100738 The Towers, Oriental Plaza
REZHIR 1 East Chang An Avenue
R BSRAEER Beijing 100738

AR RNIESRE People’s Republic of China
=g e BEMR A EETANTT Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
BB HEEBSH 35/F, One Pacific Place
K& E % — Hi35iE 88 Queensway, Hong Kong
EEER LEGAL ADVISERS
TEEED - as to Hong Kong laws:
AT EEMT Woo, Kwan, Lee & Lo
BEBPIR 26/F., Jardine House

FE 42 B 351557 1 Connaught Place

18 A K E2642 Central, Hong Kong
BAPEER as to PRC laws:

& 2Bl E A FT Haiwen & Partners

hEE AR LFE Room 1016

it R 7100027 Beijing Silver Tower

25 @ No. 2 Dong San Huan North Road
R RILEK259% Chao Yang District

It RERAE Beijing 100027

1016 % People’'s Republic of China
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